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Board of Directors’ report 

In this report we present the results of the activities of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij 
nv (Generali Schade) for the year 2014. 

1 Profile 
Generali Schade is the Dutch non-life insurance company of the international Generali Insurance 
Group (Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A.), whose head office is located in Trieste, Italy. Generali 
Schade is the parent company of the other Dutch non-life insurance company of Generali Groep, 
NV Schadeverzekering maatschappij De Nederlanden van Nu. All non-life insurance activities of 
Generali Groep in the Netherlands are under the management control of Generali Schade. 

Within the Netherlands, Generali Schade is a subsidiary of Generali verzekeringsgroep nv 
(subsequently referred to as Generali Groep). With 432 FTE (headcount: 482), Generali Groep 
provides insurance services, both in the Life and the Non-life market in the Netherlands. The 
Dutch independent broker network is the most important distribution channel. The mission of the 
Generali Groep is to be the specialist in the field of pension- and income insurance.  

2 Financial results 
The year 2014 was again a turbulent year, not only for Generali Schade but for the entire 
insurance industry.  

Interest rates on government bonds s continued to decrease  to historically low levels,  10 year 
maturity bonds  issued by Germany and The Netherlands   decreased respectively from  1.9%  
and 2.2% to approximately 0.5% and 0.7%.  

Although the premiums written decreased, the profitability has been restored. The net results 
after tax increased from a loss of € 8,7 million (2013) to a profit of € 4,5 million (2014). In addition 
there has been a reorganisation within Generali groep, the employer of all staff working for 
Generali operating entities, the cost of which has been allocated to the operating entities which 
include this company. The technical result is defined as the net earned premiums minus net 
insurance claims and costs (before investment income and expenses). 

Dividend is proposed to be paid to the shareholder in respect of 2014.  

3 Operating results  
Gross premiums written decreased from € 254 million (2013) to € 246 (2014).  

The market circumstances are challenging and highly competitive. The focus of 2014 was to 
restore our profitability and led to rate increases of several products and portfolios. However this 
led to an increased number of cancellations. This is the reason why premiums for own account 
have declined. The Nederlanden van Nu channel has generated strong growth. Rate increases at 
the beginning of the year have helped boost premium levels and generated strong growth.  

Premium income in the Health segment decreased by a little more than 10%. In the beginning of 
the year rate increases have helped boost premium levels but eventually have also been a trigger 
for some customers to allow contracts to lapse resulting in declining volumes. Economic 
circumstances have also impacted premium levels in the market negatively due to increased of 
numbers of bankruptcies and fewer start ups. The technical result within the Health segment 
improved for both sick-leave and disability products following improvements to our claims 
handling processes.  

Both our commercial and personal lines of business have been hit also in 2014 by a relative high 
number of large claims compared to years before 2012. These losses are visible across the 
market as a whole and are not specific to our company. 

The shift from the Provincial distribution channel to Underwriting Agents seen in 2013 has 
continued in 2014. 
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4 Asset management 
The continuing concerns regarding the creditworthiness of a number of European countries was 
reason for the company to persist in its policy of not investing in paper issued by southern 
European issuers. Instead, we continued to buy government bonds issued by core Euro-zone 
countries, such as Germany and the Netherlands. Because these bonds have a relatively low 
yield we also invested in bonds issued  by corporates with good cash flows and at least BBB 
rating to pick up some yield. In line with our prudent investment policy, although the equity market 
seemed relatively attractive in 2014, we did not raise our exposure to equities. Net gains realised 
on the disposal of bonds and shares in 2014 were limited.  

Our investments in fixed income instruments are of a high quality. The major part of the bond 
portfolio is issued by the Dutch, German and French governments and has a low risk profile. 

We believe that the investment portfolio of Generali Schade is well positioned for the uncertain 
economic climate. Within the asset management activities we seek to balance the interests of all 
our stakeholders, but in particular the interests of those that have a long term financial interest in 
Generali Schade such as policyholders and shareholders. We aim to maintain financial strength; 
to honour our long term commitments; to satisfy the requirements of regulators and to enhance 
the returns to our shareholders through the deployment of prudent levels of capital.  

5 Operational costs 
Reducing our operational costs to acceptable levels while improving the quality of our service has 
been the key focus in 2014, resulting in a reorganisation, and will continue to be a focal point of 
management effort in 2015. Reduced usage of temporary staffing and optimisation of the use of 
Straight Through Processing (e.g. Meetingpoint) are expected to help reduce costs. 

6 Solvency 
At year end 2014 total equity amounted to € 71.8 million. Based upon this equity amount the 
available solvency capital is almost 1.89 times the legal minimum requirements (€ 38.1 million). 
This means that the interests of our policyholders are safeguarded more than adequately. 

7 Expectations for 2015 
The operation of the company continues to be confronted with a number of challenges. The 
market changes quickly; high share of self-directed customers and online will be dominant in new 
personal line insurance. Therefore the company accelerates their distribution strategy to a 
multichannel insurer. The company offers their products through several distribution channels in 
order to serve our customers in the way they prefer. The activities in our direct writing channel will 
increase to face the shift in customer behaviour. However, we still see opportunities for the 
brokers that are focusing on the SME’s (Small and Medium-sized Enterprises). This type of 
brokers is regularly also active in the pension market, the main focus area for the Life operation. 
We expect to stabilise our position in the Income products (disability; sick leave), despite the 
competitive market. Within the market we see, in some segments (e.g. motor), some signs of a 
recovery. The first premium increases are announced. In other areas of the business (e.g. co-
insurance), no signals are visible yet. The market for the Income products remains highly 
competitive. On top of that the trend of increasing loss ratios may continue which will put pressure 
on the results.  

The developments on the financial markets are also an uncertain element with respect to the 
development of the net profit. Both the development of the equity markets and the development 
of interest yields remain unpredictable. Furthermore, we do not expect that financing activities will 
take place during 2015.  

Finally on 1 January 2015, the subsidiary Nederlanden van Nu merged with Generali Schade. 
This merger will have no financial effect on the financial statements, since Generali Schade 
already owned 100% of the shares of Nederlanden van Nu. 
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8 Risk management  
Generali Schade and its subsidiary are deeply committed to the continuity and reliability of their 
businesses as well as the reputation of the international Generali brand by managing the risks 
that they encounter while conducting their businesses. The management of the company is well 
aware that taking risk is fundamental to the insurance business, and managing those risks has 
been and will remain important. 

Responsibility for risk management rests with the statutory directors of Generali Schade and its 
subsidiaries. They have delegated the Chief Financial and Risk Officer (CFRO) of Generali 
Groep, to act on their behalf regarding the management of financial risks. 

All members of the organisation share the duty to pursue the continuity of Generali Schade and 
its subsidiary and to protect the vested interest of their capital providers and policyholders. At 
each organisational level competences and duties are recognised. 

Risk management standards continue to evolve and throughout 2014 the risk management 
function within Generali Schade has continued to develop in line with these more stringent 
requirements. A more detailed description of the approach to risk management and descriptions 
of risks and risk mitigating measures is included in chapter 20 of the financial statements in which 
we describe corporate governance (par 20.1.1), operational risk management (par 20.1.3), the 
compliance function (par 20.1.4), financial risk management (par 20.2) and the management of 
insurance risks (par 20.3). 

Legal requirements are mostly defined through the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het 
financieel toezicht).  

In July 2013 the Dutch Association of Insurers (Verbond van Verzekeraars) updated the 
governance principles in the form of the Dutch Insurance Code (Code Verzekeraars), 
subsequently referred to as the ‘Code’, which it first published in 2010 in addition to the Insurers’ 
Code of Conduct which was first drawn up in 2002 and updated in June 2011. The Code 
addresses, in particular, the role of the insurer’s Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 
and the function of risk management and auditing within the insurer but also contains principles 
governing remuneration. The company has its own Supervisory Board. Generali Schade is fully 
compliant with the Code, which requires compliance and explanation. The way in which Generali 
complies with the Code is published at www.generali.nl.  

All members of the Supervisory Board bear their own responsibility for permanent education. The 
CEO of the Generali Groep takes the activities performed on permanent education by the Board 
members in their field of expertise into account when he, on a yearly basis, evaluates their 
performance. Board members also participate on a collective basis in education sessions 
prepared by internal or external experts.  

Remuneration policy, tasks and responsibilities 
 
Under the statutory regulations of institutions such as DNB, we have established some basic 
principles for restrained remuneration policy. All legislative frameworks such as those formulated in 
the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, WFT) also apply to this policy. 
At Generali, remuneration policy is set out in the policy document entitled Beheerst Belonen bij 
Generali (Restrained Remuneration at Generali). The related Assessment & Remuneration 
Regulations have also been drawn up. 
 
The responsibility for setting restrained remuneration policy within the group lies with the 
Management Board (with the exception of the restrained remuneration policy applicable to the 
Management Board itself). This policy must be in line with company objectives, and should remain 
commensurate with the socially acceptable standards for remuneration. The Management Board is 
also responsible for ensuring that the established policy is implemented effectively. 
 
The Supervisory Board acts as the internal supervisory body for remuneration policy, and must 
approve the remuneration policy set by the Management Board. Without such approval, it is neither 
possible nor permissible to implement the policy. As the supervisory body, it is the task of the 
Supervisory Board to continually monitor compliance of the remuneration policy with the basic 
restrained remuneration principles, during its establishment, application and modification. The 
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Supervisory Board must also apply these principles in situations in which Generali wishes to issue 
a variable payment that departs from standard Restrained Remuneration policy. In its internal 
supervisory activities, the Supervisory Board must take the long-term interests of all stakeholders 
into consideration. 
 
Remuneration policy objectives 
 
The Restrained Remuneration policy at Generali aims to establish a clear and simple remuneration 
structure that caters for the scope and set-up of Generali, as well as the nature, complexity and 
scope of its activities.  
The remuneration policy helps to promote the medium and long-term interests of the company 
without encouraging board or staff members to act in their own interests or to take risks 
incommensurate with the established strategy and risk profile. Neither does the remuneration 
policy include any incentives that are at odds with Generali’s obligation to act in the interests of its 
customers and other stakeholders, or that are in conflict with Generali’s other duty of care 
obligations.  
The remuneration policy is in agreement with the principles of effective risk management.  
The level and structure of the remuneration itself allow for the recruitment and retention of qualified 
and expert staff. In setting overall emoluments, the effect on pay ratios throughout the company is 
taken into consideration.   
 
The Restrained Remuneration policy is based on a risk analysis that looks at which pay incentives 
potentially result in the careless treatment of customers and/or adversely affect the reliability of the 
company, and describes how these risks can be managed. In determining the Restrained 
Remuneration policy, consideration has also been taken of Generali’s own compliance regulations, 
specifically those concerning conflicts of interest, the ethical code and the code of conduct (of 
Generali and insurers). 
 
The scope of the Restrained Remuneration policy  
 
The Restrained Remuneration policy covers all employees of Generali verzekeringsgroep nv. As of 
2012, variable remuneration will no longer be a part of the remuneration packages of these 
employees. 
A separate policy has been drawn up for Management Board members and set out in the 
document titled Bezoldigingsbeleid Directie Generali verzekeringsgroep NV (Remuneration Policy 
for Generali verzekeringsgroep nv Board Members). Only the remuneration policy for Management 
Board members includes a variable component, as dictated by the ‘Bonus Scheme’ and ‘Long-term 
Incentive Plan’ of the Italian parent company Assicurazioni Generali SpA. Of course, the variable 
remuneration policy applicable to the Management Board must at all times be in agreement with 
local policy, to the extent that this is based on local laws and legislation. 
 
Variable remuneration applicable to the Management Board 
 
This document (Restrained Remuneration at Generali) describes how the above-mentioned 
variable remuneration has been designed. Among other things, the policy on variable remuneration 
covers: (i) the criteria on which the ratio between fixed and variable remuneration is based; (ii) the 
maximum permissible amount that can be awarded as variable remuneration; (iii) the financial and 
non-financial conditions (customer satisfaction) that govern any type of variable remuneration, 
including the penalty (malus) system. If after the payment of variable remuneration it transpires that 
the positive result on which it was based is demonstrably attributable to improper conduct on the 
part of the staff member concerned, Generali will have the right to demand that the variable 
remuneration be returned either wholly or in part (this is known as a ‘clawback’). The policy also 
prohibits hedging. 
 
Variable remuneration is paid out partly in cash and partly in financial instruments. Because 
Generali verzekeringsgroep nv has not issued any listed shares, payment in the form of financial 
instruments is effected through the use of ‘remuneration shares’ whose value is derived from (i) an 
index based on the development of ‘embedded value’, linked to the value development of the 
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shares of Assicurazioni Generali SpA; and (ii) an index based on developments in customer 
satisfaction. 
 
The policy also states that variable remuneration is to be paid in stages. Fifty per cent of variable 
remuneration is paid upon allocation. The remaining 50% is paid pro rata across a period of three 
years, assuming a three-year business cycle. Any financial instruments (remuneration shares) 
granted may not be redeemed for a period of one year after issue (i.e., a ‘lock-up’ applies). 
 
The three-year business cycle is consistent with the company’s strategic plan, and as such is also 
in line with the LTIP. 
 
The allocation and payment of variable remuneration is always subject to assessment or 
reassessment of the extent to which the applicable conditions have been met. To this end, the 
matter of assessments and reassessments of the allocation and payment of variable remuneration 
will be raised annually by the Supervisory Board and the Remuneration Committee. 
Special conditions apply to the payment of variable remuneration upon termination of employment. 
Only when the termination is due to death or occupational disability will the variable remuneration 
be paid directly and in full, without any penalties. 
 
In cases of retirement or redundancy, the postponed variable remuneration will remain intact and 
be determined and paid upon expiry of the phased payment period, with due observation of the 
retention period (the lock-up) and with the provisions related to reassessment remaining in full 
force. 
In cases of voluntary resignation or dismissal for urgent cause, all postponed variable remuneration 
will be forfeited without the right to compensation. 
 
In principle, this will also apply to dismissal by agreement. However, following a recommendation 
by the Remuneration Committee, the Supervisory Board may decide to honour instances of 
variable remuneration at its discretion, either wholly or in part. In such cases, retention periods will 
remain in force, as will any provisions related to reassessment.  
 
Variable payments may not exceed 20% of the annual (fixed) salary. 
 
Incidental limited variable remuneration for outstanding performance or effort 
 
A limited form of variable remuneration will remain available for other, non-board staff members of 
Generali verzekeringsgroep nv on a strictly incidental basis, in cases of outstanding performance or 
effort that are not reflected in any periodic increase. ‘Outstanding’ refers to a level of performance 
that is a part of neither the job description nor the normal departmental activities. In addition to 
exceptional extreme effort, this may also include one-off ideas or activities that have a substantial 
positive impact on the company. Any such rewards may never exceed one month’s salary. 
 
As soon as there is cause, it will be determined whether the relevant staff are eligible for any such 
additional remuneration, which is therefore not an individual or acquired right.  
 
A manager may submit a substantiated proposal to the HRM adviser for allocation of such 
remuneration to a staff member, which proposal must include the amount. The ultimate decision of 
whether to pay additional remuneration as described above lies with the Management Board.  
 
The remuneration policy has been reviewed in the last half of 2014 in order to meet the 
requirements as set by the formal supervisors (DNB). A regular check on the remuneration policy 
takes place at least once a year, in order to remain compliant. 
 

9 Behavioural code and Corporate Social Responsibility  
The importance of implementing the essentials of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in our 
core business is clear. The integration of policies concerning CSR-issues in the daily operation 
contributes to a positive financial and economical long term development. These policies serve to 
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raise employee awareness and encourage energy saving, paper reduction (by for example 
standard double-sided printing), recycling and separate waste disposal. The policies are 
continuously updated in line with new developments which offer possibilities to improve those 
policies. We support our community by donating funds and staff time to several community 
causes and stimulate innovation by means of a prize for innovation in industry and another for the 
best thesis on innovation in the financial sector. Our own innovation is stimulated by way of a 
specific project designed to improve the way in which we communicate with our customers. 
Resolving social issues by developing new products (e.g. sick leave, disability) is another way in 
which we try to take our responsibility concerning the well-being of the society. Encouraging eco-
compatible behaviour in suppliers and clients is another; we take a critical look at suppliers who 
do not live up to environmental protection laws. 

As an institutional investor we maintain our own principles of responsible investment. Generali 
Schade as part of Generali Group adheres to the Generali Group’s ethical guidelines and the 
Dutch cluster munition regulation to all investments for its own account. 

 

Diemen, 31 March 2015 

 

 

 

 

Jan van Leer     Freek Wansink 

Chief Executive Officer    Statutory Director 

 

 

Annette Mosman 

Statutory Director 
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Consolidated financial statements 

 

 



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 10 of 80 

Consolidated balance sheet 

 

  

 

 

 

 Assets (x €1.000) 

Acct. 

Policy Note 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

 Investments in associates 2.7.1 3.1 0 352

 Loans and receivables  2.7.3 3.3 1.112 784

 Available-for-sale financial assets  2.7.2 3.2 244.674 249.103

 Reinsurance assets 2.8 4 55.354 53.299

 Deferred tax assets 2.14 9 1.134 1.102

 Other assets 2.9 5 27.481 34.508

 Cash and cash equivalents 2.10 6 17.022 13.259

 Total assets 346.777      352.407

 Liabilities (x €1.000) 

Acct. 

Policy Note 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

 Equity 2.11 7

 Paid-up and called capital 7.1 1.361 1.361

 Share premium reserve 7.2 7.803 7.803

 Revaluation reserve 7.3 19.174 13.130

 Retained earnings 7.4 39.003 47.732

 Profit/loss for the year 4.463 -8.729

 Total equity 71.804        61.297

 Liabilities 

 Insurance contract liabilities 2.12 8 255.767 271.265

 Deferred tax liabilities 2.14 9 6.391 4.376

 Other payables 2.15 10 12.814 15.469

 Total liabilities 274.972      291.110

 Total liabilities and equity 346.777      352.407
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Consolidated income statement 

 

(x €1.000)

Acct. 

Policy

Note 2014 2013

Income 2.17

Gross premiums written      246.210 254.257

Outward reinsurance premiums       -42.317 -40.850

Net premiums written 203.893   213.407

Gross increase/decrease in provision for unearned premiums         -2.660 -2.619

Increase/decrease in reinsurers' share of unearned premiums          4.931 3.662

Net increase/decrease in provision for unearned premiums 2.271      1.043

Net premiums earned 12 206.164   214.450

Income from investments          7.244 6.962

Investment expenses            -280 -343

Income from investments 13 6.964      6.619

Other operating income 14              415 27

Total income 213.543   221.096

Expenses 2.18

Gross claims and benefits paid    -180.014 -172.965

Increase/decrease in provisions for insurance liabilities        18.158 -12.879

Reinsurers’ share        19.985 21.317

Net claims and benefits paid 15 -141.871  -164.527

Fees and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 16       -50.678 -53.039

Other operating expenses 17       -14.926 -15.161

Total expenses -207.475  -232.727

Profit/loss before tax 6.068      -11.631

Tax 18         -1.605 2.902

Net profit/loss 4.463      -8.729

Profit/loss attributable to:

- the parent 4.463      -8.729      
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

 

 

 

(€ x 1.000)

Acct. 

Policy

Notes 2014 2013

Profit/loss of the year 4.463      -8.729      

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or 

loss in subsequent periods:

Net gains and losses on available-for-sale assets 8.339         -7.459         

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income -2.295         1.855         

Other comprehensive income for the year to be 

reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax 6.044      -5.604      

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 10.507     -14.333     

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- the parent 10.507     -14.333     
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
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Balance as at 31 December 2012 1.361    7.803    18.734   52.635   2.597    83.130   

Unrealised revaluations, net of tax -           -           -5.604    -           -           -5.604    

Net gains and losses not 

recognised in income statement -           -           -5.604    -           -           -5.604    

Net loss 2013 -           -           -           -           -8.729    -8.729    

Total income and expenses -           -           -5.604    -           -8.729    -14.333   

Dividend paid -           -           -           -7.500    -           -7.500    

Transfer of net profit 2012 -           -           -           2.597    -2.597    -           

Balance as at 31 December 2013 1.361    7.803    13.130   47.732   -8.729    61.297   

Unrealised revaluations, net of tax -           -           6.045    -           -           6.045    

Net gains and losses not 

recognised in income statement -           -           6.045    -           -           6.045    

Net profit 2014 -           -           -           -           4.463    4.463    

Total income and expenses -           -           6.045    -           4.463    10.508   

Dividend paid -           -           -           -           -           -           

Transfer of net profit 2013 -           -           -           -8.729    8.729    -           

Balance as at 31 December 2014 1.361    7.803    19.175   39.003   4.463    71.805   
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Consolidated cash flow statement 

  

(x €1.000) 2014 2013

Cash flow from operating activities

Net profit 4.463 -8.729

Adjustments for items affecting profit without 

cashflow

Fair value adjustments via income statement -3.137 1.736
Amortisation of premium/discount on bonds 559 376

Result on associated companies 353 22

Total -2.225         2.134

Adjustments for carrying value on balance 

Increase/decrease in technical provision -15.498 15.498

Increase/decrease in reinsurers’ share of 

technical provisions -444 -2.329

Increase/decrease in provisions

Decrease of depots reinsurance -3.748 -161

Decrease from direct insurance -1.015 4.636

Increase/decrease of short term debts 2.108 112

Increase/decrease in accounts receivable and 

payable from direct insurance and reinsurance 

activities 4.958 -8.009

Increase/decrease of deferred liabilities 2.015 -1.915

Increase/decrease of deferred assets -32 -192

Increase/decrease in accrued interest 130 225

Total -11.526       7.865

Cashflows for operational items without 

impact on result

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets -22.726 -10.933

Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 35.777 20.065

Decrease of other provisions                -   -                 

Total 13.051        9.132

Net cash flow from operating activities 3.763          10.402

Cash flow from financing activities

Dividend paid                -   -7.500

Net cash flow from financing activities -                 -7.500

Increase/decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents during the year 3.763          2.902
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The following cash flows are included in the cash flow from operating activities: 

 

 

The consolidated cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. Cash flows 
from investments are classified as cash flows from operating activities. 

 

 

(x €1.000) 2014 2013

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 13.259 10.357

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents 3.763 2.902

Cash and cash equivalents per 31 

December 17.022 13.259

(x €1.000) 2014 2013

Interest received 7.179          7.468          

Interest paid 4                3                

Dividend received 27              63              
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1 The company and the financial statements 
Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv is a Dutch public limited company, domiciled in the 
Netherlands. The address of its registered office is Diemerhof 42, 1112 XN Diemen. The 
company’s official seat is in Amsterdam.  

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial data of both Generali 
schadeverzekering maatschappij nv and its subsidiary, NV Schadeverzekering maatschappij De 
Nederlanden van Nu, (hereinafter referred to jointly as Generali Schade). Both companies are 
engaged in non-life insurance. 

Generali verzekeringsgroep nv (hereinafter referred to as Generali Groep), headquartered in 
Diemen, is the direct holder of the entire share capital of Generali Schade. The ultimate parent, 
Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. (hereinafter referred to as Generali Group), is headquartered in 
Trieste, Italy. 

Generali Groep has the formal right to amend the financial statements at any time before their 
final approval. 

2 Significant accounting policies 
The principal policies for the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 
policies apply to Generali Schade and all other companies belonging to Generali Schade, unless 
stated otherwise.  

2.1 Basis for preparation 

The financial statements of Generali Schade have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as 
endorsed by the European Union. Though Generali Schade is not a listed company, it has 
decided to prepare its financial statements according to the standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board, in accordance with article 2:362 section 8 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

All amounts in these financial statements are presented in thousands of euros, unless stated 
otherwise. The balance sheet is, in general terms, presented in order of increasing liquidity. 
Determination as current or non-current in the notes to the accounts is based on whether an item 
is expected to mature within 12 months of balance sheet date or thereafter. 

As a full income statement is incorporated in the consolidated financial statements, only an 
abbreviated version is presented in the company financial statements, in accordance with article 
2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

2.2 Changes to accounting standards and presentation 

Accounting policies have been applied in the same manner as in 2013 and no changes in 
presentation have been made, except as noted in the following sub-paragraphs. 
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2.2.1 New accounting standards applied in 2014 

The following standards or interpretations with a significant effect on the financial statements have 
been applied by Generali Schade for the first time in 2014: 

• IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities’, includes all of the disclosure 
requirements for subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. 
The new IFRS, effective 2014, will impact the disclosures of the company’s financial statements, 
but will have no impact on equity or earnings. 

2.2.2 New accounting standards with little or no effect 

The following amendments to accounting standards have become effective in 2014 but are not 
relevant to Generali Schade’s operations, or have little or no effect on the financial statements of 
the company:  

• IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, includes a new definition of control, which 
is used to determine which entities are consolidated, and describes consolidation procedures. 
The new definition of control does not change which entities are consolidated by Generali 
Schade. 

• IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’, describes the accounting for joint arrangements with joint 
control, distinguishing in joint operations and joint ventures. Proportionate consolidation is not 
permitted for joint ventures (as newly defined), as a joint venturer would account for its interest 
using the equity method. The new IFRS does not affect the company’s financial statements as it 
holds no joint arrangements. 

• IAS 27, ‘Separate Financial Statements’, has been amended for the issuance of IFRS 10. 
The amendments have no impact on the company’s financial statements.  

• IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’, has been amended for 
conforming changes based on the issuance of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11. The amendments have no 
impact on the company’s financial statements. 

• IAS 32, ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, has been amended to clarify the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and to clarify the application of the IAS 32 
offsetting criteria to settlement systems which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not 
simultaneous. The amended IFRS will have no significant impact on the company’s financial 
statements. 

• IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’, has been amended to clarify the disclosure requirements 
in respect to fair value less costs of disposal. The amendment will impact the disclosures of the 
company’s financial statements, but will have no impact on equity or earnings. 

• IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, has been amended to 
provide an exception to the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting in certain 
circumstances in which there is a change in counterparty to a hedging instrument in order to 
achieve clearing for that instrument. The amended IFRS will have no impact on the company’s 
financial statements, since the company does not apply hedge accounting. 

• IFRIC 21, ‘Levies”, is applicable to all levies other than outflows that are within the scope 
of other standards (e.g., IAS 12) and fines or other penalties for breaches of legislation. This 
interpretation will have no impact on the company’s financial statements. 

• ‘Consolidated financial statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interest in 
Other Entities: Transition Guidance’ clarifies the transition guidance in IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and 
IFRS 12: 

o The amendments define the ‘date of initial application’ of IFRS 10 as the beginning of 
the annual reporting period in which IFRS 10 is applied for the first time and clarify that an entity 
should assess whether the consolidation conclusion is different under IAS 27/SIC-12 and IFRS 
10 as at that date and that if the consolidation conclusion reached at the date of initial application 
is different under IAS 27/SIC-12 and IFRS 10, an entity is required to adjust retrospectively its 
immediately preceding period as if the requirements of IFRS 10 had always been applied. 
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o The amendments also clarify that when an investor concludes that it should consolidate 
an investee that was not previously consolidated, and control was obtained before the effective 
date of the 2008 revisions to IFRS 3 and IAS 27, an entity can apply either IFRS 3 (2008) or IFRS 
3 (2004) and IAS 27 (2008) or IAS 27 (2003) in applying the transition requirements. 

o The amendments provide additional transitional relief to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 
to limit the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to the immediately preceding 
period and to eliminate the requirement in IFRS 12 to present comparative information for the 
disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities for any period before the first annual 
period for which IFRS 12 is applied. 

o Investment Entities (amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27) provide an 
exception to the consolidation requirements in IFRS 10 and require investment entities to 
measure particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss, rather than to consolidate 
them. The amendments also set out disclosure requirements for investment entities. The 
amendments will have no impact on the company’s financial statements. 

2.2.3 Changes to accounting standards effective in future periods 

The following changes to accounting standards and interpretations published in 2014 or earlier 
have not yet been early adopted and are expected to be applied in future periods: 

• IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, will replace IAS 39 and applies to classification and 
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, hedge accounting and impairment as 
defined in IAS 39. The impact is expected to be significant: equity instruments will generally 
be measured at fair value through profit or loss and impairment requirements are based on 
an expected credit loss model instead of the current incurred loss model. The new standard 
will be effective from 1 January 2018. 

The following accounting changes are not yet effective and are currently not expected to have a 
significant impact on Generali Schade’s financial statements. All these accounting changes will 
be effective from 1 January 2016, unless stated otherwise. 

• The amendments of IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, and IAS 28, ‘Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures’, address the acknowledged inconsistency between the 
requirements in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is 
contributed to an associate or a joint venture. The amendments clarify that an investor 
recognises a full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, 
as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The 
amendments have no impact on the financial statements.  

• The amendments of IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’, require an entity acquiring an interest in a 
joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business to apply, to 
the extent of its share, all of the business combination accounting in IFRS 3, ‘Business 
Combinations’, and other IFRSs, that do not conflict with the requirements of IFRS 11, 
including their required disclosures. The amendments will have no impact on the financial 
statements, since the company will not acquire an interest in a joint operation. 

• IFRS 14, ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’, allows rate-regulated entities to continue 
recognising regulatory deferral accounts in connection with their first-time adoption of IFRS. 
Existing IFRS preparers are prohibited to use this standard. Therefore, the new standard will 
not impact the financial statements.  

• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, replaces all existing revenue 
requirements in IFRS and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. It also 
provides a model for the recognition and measurement of sales of some non-financial assets 
including disposals of property, equipment and intangible assets. The following contracts with 
customers are out of scope of this standard: leases, insurance contracts and financial 
instruments (including subsidiaries, associates and join arrangements). Therefore, the new 
standard has no significant impact on the financial statements. The new standard is effective 
from 1 January 2017. 
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• The amendments of IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible Assets’, 
clarify the principle that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated 
from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that 
are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, the ratio of revenue generated to total 
revenue expected to be generated cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and 
equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. 
The amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since the company 
deprecates property on a straight line basis over its useful life. 

• The amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’, 
change the scope of IAS 16 to include biological assets that meet the definition of bearer 
plants. Agricultural produce growing on bearer plants will remain within the scope of IAS 41. 
The amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since the company does 
not hold any bearer plants. 

• The amendments to IAS 19 (2011), ‘Employee benefits’, permit contributions that are 
independent of the number of years of service to be recognised as a reduction in the service 
cost in the period in which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contribution to 
periods of service. The amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since 
the current accounting treatment is already in line with the amendments. The amendments 
are effective from 1 July 2014. 

• The amendments to IAS 27, ‘Separate Financial Statements’, allow an entity to account for 
subsidiaries and associates using the equity method in the entity’s separate statements. The 
amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since the company already 
uses the equity method in the separate financial statements for subsidiaries and associates.  

• Improvements to IFRS project is an annual process that the IASB has adopted to deal with 
non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS. The 2012, 2013 and 2014 Improvements 
consist of various changes, of which the most important are: 

o IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (fair value of short-term receivables and 
payables); 

o IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 40, ‘Investment Property’ 
(revaluation method). 

The 2012 and 2013 improvements are effective from 1 July 2014. The 2014 improvements 
are effective from 1 January 2016. 

2.3 Use of estimates 

Generali Schade makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Insurance liabilities, in particular, are subject to estimates and assumptions. Although these 
estimates and assumptions in respect of current facts, events and, to a certain extent, future 
events and actions are made to the best of the management’s knowledge, the actual results 
could ultimately vary, possibly significantly, from the estimates. 

2.3.1 Insurance contracts 

Estimates used to determine insurance liabilities, future benefit payments and premiums include: 

• the number of claims incurred but not reported, and their financial effect; 

• the development of claims amounts, including morbidity, recovery and mortality rates for 
bodily injury and disability covers; 

• future market interest levels/investment returns; 
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• the backlog in accounting for Bourse is 1 month and for Underwriting Agents is 2 months. If 
material changes arise from the actual figures these changes are taken into account in the 
figures; 

• credit risk relating to reinsurers.   

The estimates which are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, are continuously 
evaluated. The valuation of the non-life insurance liabilities is tested for adequacy annually. 

Significant delays can occur in the notification and/or settlement of claims and a substantial 
measure of experience and judgment is involved in assessing outstanding liabilities, the ultimate 
cost of which cannot be known with complete certainty at the balance sheet date. The provisions 
for non-life insurance liabilities are based on information available at year-end; however, it is 
inherent in the nature of the business written that the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of 
subsequent developments. The time it will take to settle the liabilities is estimated by using the 
settlement patterns of prior claims and their recovery from reinsurers as input for various 
projections. Generali Schade uses actuarial methods to estimate the ultimate cost of claims 
excluding subsequent developments. These methods require the use of various assumptions. 
The two methods generally used for risks other than disability are the Chain-Ladder and 
Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods.  

Provisions for outstanding claims are established to cover the expected ultimate liability for losses 
and loss adjustment expenses in respect of claims that have already occurred, as well as claims 
incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) and estimated unallocated claims expenses. The claim 
handling provision is 5% of the gross provision including IBNR per product. 

Outstanding claims provisions are based on estimates of future claim payments except for 
branches as AOV B, WAO and WIA. The provision for disability risks is calculated on the basis of 
AOV2000 under the assumption of a 3% actuarial interest rate. The best estimate calculation of 
disability, used for the liability adequacy test, is calculated on the basis of AOV2008 with a 
discount factor based on the interest curve published by DNB. A risk margin based on the 
stresses published in the SII methodology is also taken into account. AOV2000 is more 
conservative than AOV2008. The mortality rate is based on GBM 00-05.  

Outstanding claims provisions are based on known facts at the date of estimation, including 
statistics on the development of claim payments, incurred losses, average costs per claim and 
number of similar claims. Historical loss experience is mainly analysed by accident period. Loss 
experience is separately analysed for each segment, such as coverage, area, etc. Certain lines of 
business are also further analysed by claim type or type of coverage. Furthermore, large claims 
for each segment are usually separately assessed, either by being provided for at the face value 
of loss adjuster estimates or separately projected in order to reflect the development of large 
claims. 

Estimations of outstanding claims are refined on a continuous basis as part of a regular ongoing 
process as loss experience develops, losses are settled and further losses are reported. The 
outstanding expected ultimate claims cost is estimated using a variety of generally accepted 
actuarial and statistical projection techniques. These techniques predict the development of claim 
payments, incurred losses, average claims cost and claim numbers for each year based on the 
observed development of prior years. 

2.3.2 Fair value of investments 

Not all instruments that Generali Schade invests in are traded in active markets, so some fair 
values have to be determined by using valuation techniques. All models are validated and 
calibrated before use. A variety of assumptions are required and these can substantially affect the 
fair value recognised or disclosed of these investments. 

2.3.3 Estimates relating to impairment testing 

Impairment evaluation is a complex process that inherently involves judgments and uncertainties 
that may have a significant impact on Generali Schade’s consolidated financial statements. 
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Impairments are especially relevant in the following areas: available-for-sale (AFS) financial AFS) 
assets, reinsurance assets and goodwill (if any). 

The identification of impairment is an inherently uncertain process involving various assumptions 
and factors, including financial condition of the counterparty, expected future cash flows, 
statistical loss data, discount rates, observable market prices, etc. Estimates and assumptions 
are based on management’s judgment and other information available prior to the issuance of the 
financial statements. Materially different results can occur as circumstances change and 
additional information becomes known. 

2.4 Consolidation principles 

Generali Schade consolidates all entities over which it has control. It is assumed that Generali 
Schade has control when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., 
when it holds, or has the power to hold, more than 50% of the voting power of the investee). 

2.4.1 Subsidiaries 

A subsidiary is an entity over which Generali Schade has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which effective control is transferred to Generali Schade and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control is released. Intercompany transactions, balances and 
gains and losses on transactions between the companies are eliminated. 

The purchase method is used for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Generali Schade, not being 
entities under common control. The cost of the business acquisition is the fair value of the 
consideration paid. Identifiable assets and (possibly contingent) liabilities acquired in a business 
combination are measured upon initial recognition at fair value as at the date of acquisition. A 
positive difference between the consideration paid and Generali Schade’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and (contingent) liabilities is recognised as goodwill. Any negative 
difference, after careful reconsideration of all elements of the transactions and the recognised 
amounts, is accounted for in profit or loss. 

The pooling of interest method is used for the acquisition of entities under common control. The 
assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts, without 
adjustments for fair value or recognising any ‘new’ goodwill. The income statement and 
comparatives are presented as if the entities had always been combined, but not before the 
moment common control was established. 

2.4.2 Associates 

An associate is an entity over which Generali Schade has significant influence but not control. It is 
assumed, unless demonstrated otherwise, that Generali Schade has significant influence when it 
holds, or has the power to hold, more than 20% but less than 50% of the voting power of the 
investee. 

Investments in associates are measured using the equity method. According to this method, the 
amount paid for the investment in the associate, including goodwill, adjusted for any post-
acquisition change in Generali Schade’s share of net assets of the investee, is included in the 
consolidated balance sheet as an asset. Generali Schade’s share in the post-acquisition profit or 
loss of the associate is included in the income statement. Its share in any post-acquisition change 
directly recognised in the investee’s equity is recognised directly in Generali Schade’s equity. Use 
of the equity method is discontinued from the date that Generali Schade ceases to have 
significant influence over an associate. 

If Generali Schade’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds the associate’s carrying 
amount, it discontinues recognising its share of further losses unless Generali Schade has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Intercompany transactions and positions are eliminated to the extent of Generali Schade’s 
interest in the associate. 
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2.5 Foreign currency 

2.5.1 Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of Generali Schade and its consolidated entity is euro (€), the primary 
economic environment in which Generali Schade operates being the Netherlands. The 
presentation currency is also euro. Numbers in the financial statements are presented in 
thousands of euros unless stated otherwise. 

2.5.2 Transactions and balances 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies (of which there is only a limited number) are 
translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the 
exchange rates at balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities, are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss.  

2.6 Product classification 

Generali Schade distinguishes between insurance contracts and investment contracts in 
accordance with the product classification requirements set out in IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. 
Products that contain significant insurance risks are insurance contracts. Significant insurance 
risk is deemed to exist if a payment upon the occurrence of an insured event is likely to be at 
least 10% higher than the payment which would be made if the insured event does not occur. Any 
product not meeting these criteria is classified as an investment product.  

2.7 Investments 

Generali Schade classifies its investments into the following categories: investment in associates, 
available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends upon the 
intention of management in acquiring the investment. There is no managerial distinction between 
the categories mentioned and classes of financial instruments recognised; all disclosures in these 
financial statements therefore use the classification mentioned above. 

For all investments fair value is disclosed. All financial assets are accounted for at settlement 
date. 

Financial assets (available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables) are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from them have expired or have been transferred to a third 
party and Generali Schade has also transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  

2.7.1 Investments in associates 

This category comprises investments in associates. These investments are accounted for using 
the equity method (see also note 2.4.2). 

Investments in associates are reviewed each year to determine whether there is an indication of 
impairment. In the event of impairment, cash flow models are used to determine the fair value of 
the investment. If the investment’s fair value is lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement under investment income. 

2.7.2 Available-for-sale financial assets  

This category includes unlisted shares, listed debentures and listed zero bonds. 

Regular-way purchases and sales of available-for-sale (AFS) securities are recognised at trade 
date. AFS assets are accounted for at fair value as at the balance sheet date. The fair value of 
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instruments traded in active markets is determined using the quoted price at the reporting date. 
Cash flow models are used to determine the fair value of shares that are not actively traded. 
These shares are measured at cost if their fair value cannot be measured reliably (see note 3.4). 

Unrealised profits and losses on AFS assets are recognised in the revaluation reserve until the 
financial assets are derecognised. Any profit or loss realised on the sale, including the amount 
recognised in the revaluation reserve, is recognised in the income statement. Exchange rate 
gains and losses on equities are recognised in the revaluation reserve whereas exchange 
differences on bonds, being monetary items, are recognised in the income statement. 

Generali Schade assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that 
an AFS instrument is impaired. In the case of equity instruments classified as available for sale, 
this means a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost. Debt 
securities available for sale are impaired if there is objective evidence that the future cash flows 
are unlikely to be fully received. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, including 
any amount previously recognised in the revaluation reserve. The cumulative loss, measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement.  

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale 
increases and the increase can be related to a subsequent event, the impairment is reversed 
through the income statement. Impairments on equities, including investment fund units, cannot 
be reversed. 

2.7.3 Loans and receivables 

This category comprises non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not listed in an active market, such as private loans and deposits with reinsurers.  

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. This is the amount at which the financial 
asset is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and 
the maturity amount, and minus any impairment losses. For the initial recognition as well as the 
determination of the effective interest rate, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial asset are taken into account. 

2.7.4 Impairment of debt instruments 

Generali Schade assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that 
bonds or loans are impaired. If there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of a loss 
event that impacts estimated future cash flows of the assets and the effects can be reliably 
estimated, the bonds or loans are impaired.  

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data about one or more of the following 
events: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; 

• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments; 

• it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; 

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; 
or  

• indications that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows since the 
initial recognition of the loans portfolio, although the decrease cannot yet be linked to 
individual contracts, including: 

- adverse changes in the payment status of issuers of debt held by Generali Schade;  

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets held 
by Generali Schade. 
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Generali Schade first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for loans that are 
individually significant. Generali Schade then carries out a ‘collective’ credit risk assessment at 
portfolio level. Loans for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised, are not 
included in the collective assessment of impairment.  

When loans and receivables which are carried at amortised cost are impaired, the loss is the 
difference between the loan’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset 
may be reduced through the use of an allowance account for practical reasons. The impairment 
loss is recognised in the income statement. If the impaired loan has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined 
under the contract.  

In a subsequent period, the impairment loss might (partly) reverse if the recovery is related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment. Such a reversal is recognised in the 
income statement. 

2.8 Reinsurance assets 

This category comprises the reinsurers’ share of technical provisions and reinsurance 
receivables. The reinsurers’ share of technical provisions is measured using the same principles 
and methods applicable to the direct insurance contracts (see note 2.12). 

Credit risk for reinsurance assets is evaluated each reporting date. If objective evidence of 
impairment exists, a reinsurance asset is impaired and the loss is recognised in profit or loss.  

2.9 Other assets 

Other assets consist of direct insurance receivables, other receivables and accrued income. The 
latter includes interest accrued on investments. 

Receivables are measured at cost. Only in rare cases does cost differ significantly from amortised 
cost. Given the short term nature of most receivables, the fair value is generally close to book 
value.  

A provision for doubtful debts has been formed for credit losses. Any additions to or releases from 
this provision are recognised as Other expenses. 

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid 
investments with a maturity date within three months and subject to insignificant changes in fair 
value. Cash and cash equivalents are accounted for at fair value.  

2.11 Shareholders’ equity 

Shares are classified as shareholders’ equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other 
assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in 
equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of equity instruments as consideration for the acquisition of a business are included in the 
cost of acquisition. 

 

Paid-up and called capital includes ordinary shares only.  

Share premium reserve comprises the reserve for premiums received on the issue of shares.  

The revaluation reserve contains the unrealised gains and losses on AFS investments less 
deferred tax. Upon impairment unrealised losses are recognised in the income statement.  
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Retained earnings comprise the retained earnings and reserves required by law and the articles 
of association. 

Profit or loss for the period represents the profit or loss of Generali Schade for the reporting 
period.  

Proposed dividend payments for this period (refer to Other Information, note 32) are not 
recognised as a liability until the Annual General Meeting of shareholders formally declares such 
a dividend. 

2.12 Insurance contract liabilities 

2.12.1 Unearned premiums, unexpired risk and transport fund liabilities 

Premiums are generally recognised as revenue over the period of the risk cover. Premiums 
relating to future periods are deferred, through the income statement, as a provision for unearned 
premiums, net of related deferred commissions. 

The provision for unearned premiums from the provincial business and VVS (underwriting agents) 
is set up on the basis of the exact renewal dates. The provision for other insurance (brokers and 
bourse) is determined using a method known as the 1/8 system, taking account of multi years 
contracts. 

The provision for the transport industry (with the exception of the bourse marine underwriting) is 
measured using a method known as the funds system and amounts to 4%, 5%, 10%, 25% and 
80% of the net annual premiums for own account in the underwriting years from 2010 to 2014 
respectively (2013: from 2009 to 2013). As an extra measure of security, the provision for 
outstanding claims includes, in respect of funds, an extra provision for bourse marine 
underwriting for the underwriting years as from 2010 (2012: from 2009). 

In the event of unexpired risk or premium deficiencies, unearned premiums might not be sufficient 
to cover future losses under the contract. In that case an additional liability is recognised through 
profit or loss. An aging provision is recognised for disability insurance on the basis that expected 
future disability claims will develop differently from contractual risk premiums. 

2.12.2 Claims 

The provision for claims incurred is set up for not yet adjusted losses on the basis of best 
estimates and includes claims not yet received on the basis of previous claims experience 
(including bourse marine underwriting). The provision takes account of subrogation and transfer 
of title in insured assets. A flat-rate provision is maintained for the future costs of settling 
outstanding claims as at the balance sheet date. This provision is set up to 5% of the total 
provision for outstanding claims to be settled in the future under own administration. 

The provision for individual disability and WIA/WGA benefits equals the present value of the 
expected claims payments taking account of terms and waiting periods, future indexation, 
benefits rates as well as recovery probabilities and mortality rates calculated on the basis of a 3% 
discount rate.  

2.12.3 IBNR 

The IBNR for WIA/WGA is based on the premium paid for and is reserved as an IBNR provision 
with the exception of contracts with own risk (WGA ER) in which case 150% of the premium is set 
aside as IBNR. Commencing from the year in which claims may first be made on the basis of this 
coverage, one-third of the IBNR is released each year to earnings. This means that after three 
years the IBNR provision has been complete released.  

The IBNR for contracts entered into via the underwriting agents is estimated at 5% for short tail 
business and 7% of the total gross provision for long tail business. For provincial contracts 5% of 
the claims expense for the past year is used, and for long tail business 7% of the claims expense.  
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2.12.4 Liability Adequacy Test 

Under IFRS 4 ’Insurance Contracts’ a liability adequacy test (LAT) must be conducted on the 
provision for non-life insurance liabilities at each reporting date. The main assumption is that the 
settlement pattern for claims within the same industry can be predicted on the basis of past 
settlement patterns. If the provision proves inadequate, the shortfall is recognised through profit 
or loss by increasing the liability. 

For financial statement reporting purposes Generali Schade performs LAT testing based on the 
Best Estimate Provision Methodology. This methodology provides a format for estimating the 
liabilities at fair value. 

Methodology 

The Fair Value of Liabilities is estimated by projecting the expected cash flows. The Best 
Estimate Liability (BEL) is calculated by: 

• using a range of standard actuarial claims projection techniques, such as Chain Ladder 
method. The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a company’s past claims 
development experience can be used to project future claims development and hence 
ultimate claims costs. As such, these methods extrapolate the development of paid and 
incurred losses, average costs per claim and number of claims based on the observed 
development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is 
mainly analysed by accident years, but can also be further analysed by geographical area, as 
well as by significant business lines and claim types. 

• AOV B is calculated a cash flow projection with the AOV2008 model.  

• For discounting the future cash flows, the nominal 'Rentetermijnstructuur' (RTS) of the DNB is 
used. 

Results and Developments 

Both at the end of the previous reporting year as at the end of the reporting year the Liability 
Adequacy Test demonstrated adequate book values of the insurance liabilities. The surplus at 
year end decreased substantial. Important developments were:  

• The RTS curve at year end lies at a lower level which increases the present value of the 
expected cash flows and results in a decrease of the surplus.  

• Improvement of the surplus of disability as results of increased recovery rates 

• Increase of the reserve adequacy of group disability by improved underlying technical result. 

The test is conducted over 98.1% of our portfolio. The other 1.9% is tested qualitatively and has 
also been assessed as adequate.  

2.13 Other provisions 

In accordance with IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ Generali 
Schade recognises provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Provisions are recognised at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation. 

If Generali Schade expects the expenditure required to settle a provision to be reimbursed by 
another party, such as through insurance contracts, the reimbursement is treated as a separate 
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received. Generali Schade currently does 
not expect to receive any material reimbursements. 
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2.14 Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax 
assets in respect of carry-forward unused tax losses and unused tax credits are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available, against which unused tax 
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, thus taking into account tax legislation that has been (substantively) enacted at the 
reporting date.  

Deferred taxes are generally settled over the longer term. 

Current tax is recognised to the extent that tax filings have not been settled. Current tax assets 
and liabilities are measured using legislation that have been (substantively) enacted at the 
balance sheet date.  

Current tax amounts will be paid within a period of 12 months, unless stated otherwise.  

Generali Schade is part of the Generali Groep fiscal unity and therefore the company has a joint 
and several liability for the tax position of the fiscal unity. This fiscal unity consists of Generali 
Groep and several of its subsidiaries, including Generali Schade. All deferred and current tax 
positions are accounted for in the financial statements of Generali Schade. 

2.15 Payables 

This category includes payables from direct insurance and reinsurance and various liabilities. 
Payables are accounted for at cost. Given the short term nature of most payables, the fair value 
is generally close to book value. 

2.16 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

Within the normal course of business Generali Schade may be a party to activities, of which the 
risks are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Material contingent assets and 
liabilities are included in the notes to the Balance Sheet. Such contingencies, if any, are 
discussed in note 23.3. 
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2.17 Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value for services, net of taxes, after eliminating revenue within 
Generali Schade. Revenue is recognised as follows: 

Insurance 

Premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) proportionally over the period of 
coverage. The unearned portion of premium received on in-force contracts at the balance sheet 
date is reported as the unearned premium liability, in combination with the portion of premiums 
that relates to unexpired risks. Premiums are recognised before deduction of commission and are 
gross of any taxes or duties levied on premiums. 

Interest income and expenses 

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within 
‘investment income’ in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.  

Income from other investments 

Income from other investments consists of interest income, dividends and realised gains and 
losses on investments. Interest is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

2.18 Expenses  

Net claims and benefits 

This comprises the claims paid to policy holders less amounts received from reinsurers, taking 
account of the change in the provision for insurance liabilities. Benefits are recorded as an 
expense when they are incurred. Reinsurance payments received are recognised in the period 
the related gross benefits are recognised. The reinsurance recoveries are separately disclosed as 
a deduction from gross benefits. 

Fees and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 

Acquisition and administrative expenses related to insurance contracts are recognised in this 
category. 

Other operating expenses 

This category comprises other administrative and staff costs for the insurance business.  

Leases 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease. 
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3 Investments 
 

 
 
 
The different valuations are categorised as follows: 

 

 

For further information on how this item is measured, please refer to section 2.7. 

 

 

(x € 1000)

Book 

value %

Book 

value %

Investments in associates -            0,0% 352       0,1%

Available-for-sale financial assets

Equity securities 545       4.407

Debt securities 244.129 244.696

Total 244.674 99,5% 249.103 99,6%

Loans and receivables

Loans 774       421

Deposits with insurers 338       363

Total 1.112     0,5% 784 0,3%

Total investments 245.786 100,0% 250.239 100,0%

2014 2013

(x € 1000) 2014 2013

Equity method

Investments in associates -            352

Total equity method -            352

Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets 244.674 249.103

Total fair value 244.674 249.103

Amortised cost

Loans and receivables 1.112     784

Total amortised cost 1.112     784

Total investments 245.786 250.239



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 30 of 80 

3.1 Investments in associates 

Investments in associates consist of an investment in Meetingpoint. A director of Generali Schade 
is member of the Supervisory Board of Meetingpoint, and the CEO of Generali Schade is member 
of the Advisory Board of Meetingpoint. Generali has also provided expertise in developing the IT 
platform on which Meetingpoint operates. Furthermore Generali Schade, in its capacity as 
shareholder, has agreed to provide further financial support when required. As such Generali 
Schade is considered to have significant influence despite the fact that it holds less than 20% of 
the share capital of Meetingpoint. Meetingpoint is therefore considered an associate. 

MeetingPoint’s place of incorporation is Hilversum, The Netherlands and is specialised in straight 
through processing for insurance companies.  

The associate is measured using the equity method. All operations are continuing. For 2013 the 
financial statements of the associate are 1 year prior to the financial statements of the company. 
For 2014 the current financial statements of the associate are used. Uncertainties in respect of 
future developments have led to an impairment to 0. 

Movements in investments in associates during the year are as follows: 

 

 

 

Summarised financial information in respect of MeetingPoint is as follows: 

 

 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 352 384

Share of total comprehensive income -32 -32

Impairments -320 -                

Balance as at 31 December 0 352

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Profit or loss after tax from continuing operations -32 -32

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income -32 -32

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Current assets 3.186 4.352

Non current assets 13 47

Total assets 3.199 4.399

Current liabilities 1.224 2.286

Non current liabilities -                -                

Total liabilities 1.224 2.286

Net assets 1.975 2.113

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Revenue 5.343 4.860

Profit or loss from continuing operations 53 -132

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income 53 -132
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The entity’s share in the net assets of the associate consists of 16.67% of the associate’s net 
assets. 

3.2 Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

 

Unlisted equities consist of other company related shares, e.g. CED (Centrale Expertise Dienst). 
The debt securities are all euro-denominated, largely investment grade bonds. Investment funds 
concern units in European investment and property trusts.  

Bond maturities are as follows: 

 

The return (interest and revaluations) on bonds is 3,08% at year-end 2014 (2013: 2,74%).  

Movements financial investments available-for-sale during the year are shown in the table below. 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Equity securities

Unlisted 545 496

Total 545 496

Debt securities

Listed 244.129     244.696

Total 244.129     244.696

Investment funds -               3.911

Total 244.674     249.103

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Within 1 year 7.913        8.390

1 to 5 years 133.898     98.609

5 to 10 years 98.088      133.968

More than 10 years 4.229        3.729

Total 244.129     244.696     

(x € 1.000)

Available-

for-sale

At the beginning of 2013 265.941     

Additions 10.933      

Disposals (sale and redemptions) -20.065      

Unrealised gains / losses -7.330        

Amortisation of premium/discount -376           

At the end of 2013 249.103     

Additions 22.726      

Disposals (sale and redemptions) -35.777      

Unrealised gains / losses 8.901        

Amortisation of premium/discount -279           

At the end of 2014 244.674     



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 32 of 80 

Impairments are recognised in the income statement under income from other investments. 
Revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve. 

Additional information on how these investments are measured, are provided in section 2.7. 

3.3 Loans and receivables 

 

The market value of the loans is € 792  (2013: € 453). The method used to calculate this fair 
value is based on the Net Present Value, based on a yield curve which includes a credit spread. 

The market value of the deposits with reinsurers is € 338 (2013: € 363). The fair value is equal to 
the book value. 

 

Movements during the year are shown in the table below. 

 

3.4 Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy 

The following is a description of Generali Schade’s methods of determining fair value, and a 
quantification of its exposure to financial instruments measured at fair value. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Financial instruments measured at 
fair value on an ongoing basis include investments for own account and investments for the 
account of policyholders.  

Generali Schade uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial instruments: 

• Level 1: 
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that Generali 
Schade can access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices of identical 
or similar assets and liabilities) using valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are 
based on observable market data. 

• Level 3: 
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs) using valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable 
market data.  

 

(x € 1000) 2014 2013

Loans 774           421

Deposits with reinsurers 338           363

Total 1.112        784

(x € 1000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 784           474           

Acquisitions 483           469           

Disposals -155          -159          

Balance as at 31 December 1.112        784           
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The best evidence of fair value is the existence of published priced quotations in an active 
market.  

Valuation techniques 

In the event that the market for a financial instrument is not active or quoted market prices are not 
available, a valuation technique is used. The judgment as to whether a market is active may 
include, although not necessarily determinative, lower transaction volumes, reduced transaction 
sizes and, in some cases, no observable trading activity for short periods. In inactive markets, 
assurance is obtained that the transaction price provides evidence of fair value or is determined 
that adjustments to transaction prices are necessary to measure the fair value of the instrument. 
The majority of valuation techniques employ only observable market data, and therefore the 
reliability of the fair value measurement is high.  

However, certain financial instruments are valued on the basis of valuation techniques that 
feature one or more significant market inputs that are unobservable and, for such financial 
instruments, the determination of fair value is more judgmental. These financial instruments 
include mainly debt securities for which there is no active market available at the moment. An 
instrument in its entirety is classified as valued using significant unobservable inputs if, in the 
opinion of management, a significant proportion of the instrument’s carrying amount and / or 
inception profit (‘day 1 gain or loss’) is driven by unobservable inputs. ‘Unobservable’ in this 
context means that there are little or no current market data available from which to determine the 
price at which an arm’s length transaction would be likely to occur. It generally does not mean 
that there are no market data available at all upon which to base a determination of fair value. 
Additional information is provided in the section headed ‘Effect of reasonably possible alternative 
assumptions’ below. 

The application to assets and liabilities is as follows: 

Equity securities:  

• Investment funds are classified in Level 2, since their fair value is based on the fair value of 
the underlying listed financial instruments.  

• Unlisted equity securities are classified in Level 3, since their fair value is based on the NAV 
of the underlying companies. 

Loans and receivables:  

• The fair value calculation of loans is based on a discounted cash flow model using Bloomberg 
quotes. 

• The fair value of deposits with reinsurers is deemed to be equal to the book value. 

 

The table below shows both the carrying amount and the fair value of financial assets: 

 

 

 

 

 

Total book 

value

Total fair 

value

(x € 1.000)  

     244.674 244.674        

Loans and receivables 774           1.128            

Cash and cash equivalents 17.022      17.022          

Total investments 262.470     262.824        

31 December 2014

Available for sale financial assets
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The table below shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the 
fair value hierarchy: 

  

 

 

 

Significant transfers between level 1 and 2 and other movements in level 2 

Generally transfers between levels are attributable to changes in market activities and 
observability of the inputs used in valuation techniques to determine the fair value of certain 
instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are mainly transferred from Level 1 to Level 
2 when the liquidity and the frequency of transactions are no longer indicative of an active market. 
Conversely, for transfers from Level 2 to Level 1. 

During the year 2014 no corporate bonds were transferred from a Level  2 to a Level 1 
classification.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31 December 2014 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value

(x € 1.000)

Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities -                        -               545           545               

Debt securities 244.129              -               -               244.129        

Other assets:

Investment in associates -                        -               -               -                   

Loans and receivables -                        1.130        -               1.130            

Total financial assets 244.129              1.130        545           245.804        

31 December 2013 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value

(x € 1.000)

Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities -                        3.911        496           4.407            

Debt securities 244.696              -               -               244.696        

Other assets:

Investment in associates -                        -               352           352               

Loans and receivables -                        816           -               816               

Total financial assets 244.696              4.727        848           250.271        
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Significant transfers between level 2 and 3 and other movements in level 3 

 

 

 

During the year 2014 Generali transferred no assets from Level 1 or Level 2 to Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. During the year 2014 Generali did not transfer any financial instruments from 
Level 3 to other levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

A gain on Level 3 financial instruments of € 49 (2013:  € 19) was recognised in the 2014 other 
comprehensive income. 

The following table shows the sensitivity of the fair value of Level 3 instruments to changes in key 
assumptions, by class of instrument: 
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(x € 1.000)

Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 496    -       49        -      -          -          545   -              

Debt securities -        -       -          -      -          -          -       -              

496    -       49        -      -          -          545   -              

Total financial assets 496    -       49        -      -          -          545   -              
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(x € 1.000)

Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 477    -       19        -      -          -          496   -              

Debt securities -        -       -          -      -          -          -       -              

477    -       19        -      -          -          496   -              

Total financial assets 477    -       19        -      -          -          496   -              
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In order to determine the effect of reasonably possible alternative assumptions, Generali adjusted 
the value of available-for-sale equity securities based on the following assumptions: 

Available-for-sale equity securities for which there is no active market available at the moment. 
Prices for these equities were acquired from external parties. Generali adjusted these values up 
or down by 5% to reflect the reasonably possible alternative assumptions. 

4 Reinsurance assets 

 

Further information on the reinsurers’ share of technical provisions is provided in section 8, where 
additional information on the technical provisions can be found. 

5 Other assets 

 
 
All other assets mature within one year. 

The other assets consist of short term receivables. The fair value is approximately equal to the 
book value.  

Carrying amount

Effect of reasonably 

possible alternative 

assumptions (+/-)

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 545                          27                            

Total financial assets 545                          27                            

Carrying amount

Effect of reasonably 

possible alternative 

assumptions (+/-)

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 496                          25                            

Total financial assets 496                          25                            

31 December 2013

31 December 2014

(x €1.000) 2014 2013

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 52.434 51.990

Reinsurance receivables 2.921 1.334

Less: provision for impairments -            -25

Total 55.354      53.299

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Receivables from direct insurance and reinsurance 10.502 15.032

Other receivables 16.979 19.476

Total 27.481 34.508



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 37 of 80 

5.1 Receivables from direct insurance 

 

5.2 Other receivables 

  
 

Other receivables consist mainly of claim payments to process. 

6 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

All cash and cash equivalents are at the free disposal of the company. 

 

  

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Receivables from policyholders -            -               

Receivables from intermediaries 11.115 15.682

Less: provision for impairments -613 -650

Total net carrying amount as at 31 December 10.502 15.032

Nor impaired, nor past due 10.502 15.032

Impaired 613 650

Gross total 11.115 15.682

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Accrued interest 3.622        3.752        

Other receivables 13.537      16.146      

Less: provision for impairments -180           -422           

Total 16.979      19.476      

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Cash and cash equivalents 17.022      13.259      

Total 17.022 13.259



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 38 of 80 

7 Equity 
For further information on equity, please refer to the statement of changes in equity. 

7.1 Paid-up and called capital 

 

The share capital has remained the same as at year-end 2013. 

7.2 Share premium reserve 

The share premium reserve can be distributed free of withholding tax up to an amount of  
€ 7.803 (2013: € 7.803). 

7.3 Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve of Generali Schade pertains mainly to revaluations of bonds. 

Movements in the revaluation reserve for available-for-sale investments were as follows: 

 

7.4 Retained earnings 

For the year 2014 dividend of an amount of € 3.150 will be proposed to the shareholders. The 
proposed dividend has not been accounted for in the financial statements as at the balance sheet 
date. During the year no dividend was paid.  

 

 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Authorised capital as at 31 December

10.000 shares at € 453,78 par 4.538 4.538

Total 4.538 4.538

Subscribed capital as at 31 December

3.000 shares at € 453,78 par 1.361 1.361

Total 1.361 1.361

(x € 1.000)

At the beginning of 2013 18.734

Gains and losses transferred to the income statement -129

Revaluation – gross -7.340

Revaluation – tax 1.865

At the beginning of 2014 13.130

Gains and losses transferred to the income statement -842          

Revaluation – gross 9.181        

Revaluation – tax -2.295       

At the end of 2014 19.174
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Restrictions with respect to dividend and repayment of capital 

Generali Schade is subject to legal restrictions regarding the amount of dividends it can pay to 
the shareholders. Pursuant to the Dutch Civil Code, dividends can only be paid up to an amount 
equal to the excess of the company’s own funds over the sum of the paid-up capital, and 
reserves required by law. 

Moreover, Generali Schade’s ability to pay dividends is dependent on the dividend payment 
ability of its subsidiaries and associates. Generali Schade is legally required to create a non-
distributable reserve insofar profits of its subsidiaries and associates are subject to dividend 
payment restrictions which apply to those subsidiaries and associates themselves. Furthermore 
Generali Schade is legally required to create an Available For Sale reserve insofar unrealised 
profits are recognised in the total equity. 

Additional information on legal reserves is provided in note 28.4. 

8 Insurance contract liabilities 
The provision for insurance liabilities is presented in the table below. 

 

The results of the Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) indicated that our provisions are sufficient. We 
observed a stable level of the LAT compared to previous year.  

 

 

 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Non-life insurance contract liabilities (short term) 34.771            32.110            

Non-life insurance contract liabilities (long term) 220.996          239.155          

Total 255.767          271.265          

(x € 1.000)

Gross 

reserves

Reinsurance 

assets Net

Non-life insurance contracts

Provision for unearned premiums 34.771 15.413 19.358

Provision for claims incurred 195.995 33.766 162.229

Provision for unallocated claims expenses 5.739 131 5.608

IBNR reserve 19.262 3.123 16.139

220.996 37.020 183.976

Total 255.767 52.433 203.334

2014

(x € 1.000)

Gross 

reserves

Reinsurance 

assets Net

Non-life insurance contracts

Provision for unearned premiums 32.110 10.482 21.628

Provision for claims incurred 211.357 38.004 173.353

Provision for unallocated claims expenses 6.031 118 5.913

IBNR reserve 21.767 3.386 18.381

239.155 41.508 197.647

Total 271.265 51.990 219.275

2013
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Movements in the gross provision for claims incurred, claims expenses and IBNR were as 
follows: 

 

 

The decrease in IBNR relates primarily to decrease disability (€ 2.0 million) due to decreased 
number of claims. The settlement of large fire claims has a significant impact on the decrease of 
claim reserve by € 15.0 million. 

Movements in the provision for unearned premiums were as follows: 

 

 

The following table presents the development of gross claims payments and the estimated 
ultimate gross claims cost for accident years 2004 - 2014. The upper half of the table shows the 
cumulative amounts paid during successive years related to each accident year. The estimated 
ultimate claims cost consists of claims paid, the outstanding claims provision and the IBNR 
reserve.  

The decrease from the original estimate is generally attributable to a combination of factors 
including claims being settled for larger or smaller amounts than originally estimated. The original 
estimates will also be adjusted up or down as more information becomes available about the 
individual claims, overall claim frequency and severity patterns. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 239.155     226.276

Claims reported current year 149.536     171.883

Increase/decrease in claims previous years 14.823      11.683

Add: claims reported 164.359     183.566

Claims paid current year 88.522      91.280

Claims paid previous years 91.491      81.685

Less: claims paid 180.013     172.965

Increase/decrease in IBNR -2.505       2.278

Balance as at 31 December 220.996 239.155

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 32.110      29.491

Gross premiums written 246.210     254.257

Gross premiums earned 243.549     251.638

Increase/decrease in gross provision for unearned premiums 2.661 2.619

Balance as at 31 December 34.771      32.110
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Development of gross claims 

 

 

The run-off result (for 2013and older years) for Generali Schade is positive. Main driver behind 
the positive contribution is Disability, where the recovery rates of claims are higher than expected. 
Also the settlement of larger fire claims resulted in a positive run-off result. When we look at 
individual branches and sales channels we see negative run of results for underwriting agents, 
and, motor liability. 

 

 

(x € 1.000)

all 

prior 

years 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total

Gross cumulative 

claims payments:

At end of accident 

year 42.730 38.291 46.023 52.777 69.299 74.184 81.583 91.469 91.280 88.522

One year later 68.836 67.644 80.560 73.674 112.135 130.943 134.010 145.345 149.911

Two years later 73.208 73.801 87.993 82.241 123.139 144.840 146.998 159.440

Three years later 76.746 77.870 90.927 85.545 128.204 150.545 154.304

Four years later 77.898 80.381 93.094 89.657 131.363 155.374

Five years later 79.232 81.852 95.243 90.955 133.758

Six years later 80.070 83.133 96.803 92.262

Seven years later 80.092 84.062 97.716

Eight years later 80.342 84.409

Nine years later 80.351

Ten years later

Cumulative claims 

payments 80.351 84.409 97.716 92.262 133.758 155.374 154.304 159.440 149.911 88.522

Estimate of gross 

cumulative claims:

At end of accident 

year 102.512 96.753 115.578 126.576 149.683 166.483 163.271 187.662 196.903 171.579

One year later 98.410 97.359 118.906 135.132 159.795 190.279 189.619 199.458 196.898

Two years later 95.321 94.299 112.320 108.703 149.588 180.306 179.605 193.591

Three years later 93.457 94.495 110.360 102.700 148.107 174.274 180.259

Four years later 93.526 94.653 107.229 101.614 146.121 173.414

Five years later 86.537 89.940 104.553 99.562 145.192

Six years later 84.541 88.802 101.397 98.368

Seven years later 82.451 87.271 100.276

Eight years later 82.325 86.510

Nine years later 82.088

Ten years later

Estimate of 

cumulative claims 82.088 86.510 100.276 98.368 145.192 173.414 180.259 193.591 196.898 171.579

Total 6.903 1.737 2.101 2.560 6.106 11.434 18.040 25.955 34.151 46.987 83.057 239.031

Discounting 

provision for 

disability 59 0 29 10 422 1.556 2.054 3.093 3.697 2.936 4.179 18.035

Balance as at 31 

December 6.844 1.737 2.072 2.550 5.684 9.878 15.986 22.862 30.454 44.051 78.878 220.996
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Development of net claims 

 

  

(x € 1.000)

all prior 

years 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total

Net cumulative 

claims payments:

At end of accident 

year 36.798  34.373    41.440   46.896    61.125    67.282    75.672    81.225    83.224    81.509    

One year later 58.587  60.460    71.641   82.791    100.449 118.028 122.671 125.221 132.572 

Two years later 61.778  64.454    78.138   88.748    109.341 126.843 133.939 135.877 

Three years later 64.322  67.841    80.400   90.890    113.096 131.701 139.770 

Four years later 65.190  69.427    82.085   92.419    115.741 134.777 

Five years later 66.373  70.624    83.957   93.490    117.651 

Six years later 67.037  71.546    84.996   94.608    

Seven years later 67.203  71.993    85.775   

Eight years later 67.413  72.269    

Nine years later 67.474  

Ten years later

Cumulative claims 

payments 0 67.474 72.269 85.775 94.608 117.651 134.777 139.770 135.877 132.572 81.509

Estimate of Nett 

cumulative claims:

At end of accident 

year 87.622  85.953    104.520 111.855 133.965 141.712 147.226 161.790 172.171 153.831 

One year later 83.509  84.711    103.535 115.648 140.227 165.027 170.970 171.606 169.106 

Two years later 81.171  82.400    97.691   108.655 130.672 156.597 161.328 165.637 

Three years later 79.405  81.033    95.974   103.453 129.054 151.106 161.401 

Four years later 78.558  81.202    93.097   102.170 127.363 149.717 

Five years later 71.802  76.072    91.148   100.363 126.041 

Six years later 70.336  75.264    88.480   99.586    

Seven years later 68.591  74.323    87.621   

Eight years later 68.458  73.926    

Nine years later 68.265  

Ten years later

Estimate of 

cumulative claims -           0 68.265 73.926 87.621 99.586 126.041 149.717 161.401 165.637 169.106 153.831

Total 5.431  -             791        1.657       1.846     4.978      8.390      14.940    21.631    29.760    36.534    72.322    198.280  

Discounting of 

provision for 

disability 59        -             -              29            10           385         1.154      1.848      2.632      3.271      2.630      3.617      15.635     

Balance as at 31 

December 5.372  -             791        1.628       1.836     4.593      7.236      13.092    18.999    26.489    33.904    68.705    182.645  
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9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 

 

The changes taken to the income statement largely concern the adjustment to technical 
provisions and the amortisation of bonds. The changes taken to equity mainly concern changes in 
the revaluation of available-for-sale bonds. 

The deferred tax liability has arisen in part on differences between the commercial and tax 
accounting policies for other investments and technical reserves. The investments are accounted 
for at cost for tax purposes. A tax equalisation reserve is used as well. Since this reserve does 
not exist for commercial accounting purposes, a tax liability has been recognised. This is done 
within the fiscal entity Generali Groep. At the end of 2014, this reserve equalled 0. 

Deferred taxes at year-end 2014 are accounted for at the applicable tax rate of 25.0% (2013: 
25.0%).  

 

(x €1.000) 2014 2013

Deferred tax assets 1.134 1.102

Deferred tax liabilities -6.391 -4.376

Total as at 31 December -5.257 -3.274

Balance as at 1 January -3.274 -5.381

Through profit or loss 32 242

Recognised in equity -2.015 1.865

Carrying amount as at 31 December -5.257 -3.274

Payable within 12 months -            -               

Payable after 12 months -5.257 -3.274

Total as at 31 December -5.257 -3.274

At the beginning of 2013 -5.584 203 -5.381

Charged/(credited) to the income statement 115 127 242

Charged/(credited) to equity (net of transfers to 

retained earnings) 1.865 -                 1.865

At the end of 2013 -3.604 330 -3.274

Charged/(credited) to the income statement 72 -40 32

Charged/(credited) to equity (net of transfers to 

retained earnings) -2.015 -             -2.015

At the end of 2014 -5.547 290 -5.257

Total

(x €1.000)

Unrealised 

appreciation 

of 

investments

Insurance 

liabilties
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10 Other payables 

 

Given the short term nature of most liabilities the fair value is estimated to be close to the book 
value. 

The payables arising from insurance activities consist of the following: 

 

Tax liabilities are accounted for in the balance sheet at their nominal value. 

The other payables and financial liabilities consist of the following: 

 

All regular cash payments and receipts are processed through the current account. 

Payables are all current, being expected to mature within 12 months. There are no contractual 
repricing periods, nor has any collateral been furnished. 

11 Employee Benefits 
Generali Schade has no provision for employee benefits in respect of own staff as all Generali 
staff in the Netherlands are employed by Generali Groep. Generali levensverzekering 
maatschappij nv, also a subsidiary of Generali Groep, acts as insurer for the pension plan of 
Generali Groep and records the relevant liability as part of its technical provisions. For further 
details of employee benefits, reference should be made to the financial statements of Generali 
verzekeringsgroep nv. 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Payables arising from insurance activities 6.248 11.011

Tax liabilities 1.057 1.282

Other payables and financial liabilities 5.509 3.176

Total 12.814 15.469

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

From direct insurance

Policyholders 3.897 4.873

Intermediaries 1.152 1.191

Total 5.049 6.064

From reinsurance

Group companies 59 3.572

Other 1.139 1.375

Total 1.199 4.947

Total 6.248 11.011

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Payable to group companies 2.798        -               

Claims income yet to be processed 1.085        579           

Outstanding bonuses and commissions payable 455           600           

Oustanding payables with third parties 202           29             

Other payables and financial liabilities 969           1.968        

Total 5.509 3.176
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12 Premium income 
Premium income for the non-life insurance business breaks down as follows: 

 

13 Investment income 

 

14 Other operating income 
Other operating income consists of miscellaneous items (€ 415). To a large extent this is due to a 
release of the provision for bad debt. 

Liability Other

Gross premiums 

earned 51.360 48.708 59.319 57.389 8.242 14.210 2.301 2.020 243.549

Reinsurance 6.201 6.213 7.315 13.108 1.465 841 264 1.978 37.385

Net premiums 

earned 45.159 42.495 52.004 44.281 6.777 13.369 2.037 42 206.164

Liability Other

Gross premiums 

earned 52.795 55.844 59.627 55.742 9.004 14.209 2.299 2.118 251.638

Reinsurance 5.780 7.301 7.249 12.460 1.473 556 223 2.146 37.188

Net premiums 

earned 47.015 48.543 52.378 43.282 7.531 13.653 2.076 -28 214.450

(x €1.000) Fire Medical

Motor vehicle

Liability Transport Other

Legal 

expenses

Total 

2013

Other

Legal 

expenses

Total 

2014(x €1.000) Fire Medical

Motor vehicle

Liability Transport

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Proceeds on available-for-sale financial assets

Interest/dividend received from available-for-sale financial assets 6.996 7.235

Realised gains on available-for-sale financial assets 842 129

Realised losses on available-for-sale financial assets -               -               

Amortisation of bonds -278 -376

Total 7.560 6.988

Proceeds on loans and receivables

Interest received on loans and receivables 15 6

Total 15 6

Other income

Interest received from cash and cash equivalents 2              -               

Interest received from other receivables 45 39

Interest paid on other receivables -26 -49

Total 21 -10

Expenses related to investments -279 -343

Total investment income 7.317 6.641

Proceeds from investments in associated companies

Result on associated companies -353 -22

Total income from associated companies -353 -22

Total investment income and income from associated companies 6.964 6.619
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15 Net claims and benefits paid 

 

Claims payments are shown net of recoveries. Generali Schade recorded a reinsurance loss of  
€  9.783 in 2014, that is to say reinsurance premiums paid exceeded recoveries from reinsurance 
contracts (2013: reinsurance loss of € 8.313). 

16 Fees and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 

 

 

17 Other operating expenses 

 

There were no results on exchange rates because all the transactions are in euro.  

Administration costs for insurance contracts and Other expenses consist of a proportional 
allocation of respectively the incremental depreciation on capitalized ICT projects and the 
reorganisation charge. Both are recorded in the books of Generali Groep. 

The fees for audit services rendered by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP to Generali Groep in 
2014 and 2013 are disclosed in the financial statements of Generali Groep.  

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Net claims

Claims paid 180.014     172.965 -24.472  -22.650  155.542 150.315 

Increase/decrease in provision

for claims incurred -18.158     12.879   4.487     1.333     -13.671  14.212   

Total 161.856     185.844 -19.985  -21.317  141.871 164.527 

Gross NetReinsurers' share

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

58.295      60.597      

Of which:

Acquisition and collecting commission for insurance contracts 55.057      56.897      

Other acquisition costs for insurance contracts 3.238        3.700        

Reinsurers' commissions and profit commissions -7.617        -7.558        

Net fee and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 50.678      53.039

Gross fees and commission paid and other acquisition costs

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Administration costs for insurance contracts 12.750 11.147

Lease payments 126 125

Other expenses 2.050 3.889

Total 14.926      15.161
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18 Taxes 
Taxes break down as follows: 

 

The expected and effective tax rate is reconciled on the basis of applicable tax rates in the table 
below. 

 

The deferred taxes recognised directly in equity amount to € -2.295 (2013: € 1.865). This item 
concerns unrealised investment gains.  

19 Employee information 
Generali Schade is staffed by employees of Generali Groep working in the Netherlands. No 
remunerations of any kind are paid directly by Generali Schade. The expenses recorded by 
Generali Schade are to a large extent allocations of costs borne by Generali Groep (see notes 11 
& 22.3). In 2014 41.6% of the total costs of Generali Group was allocated to Generali Schade 
(2013: 40.0%). Accordingly, reference should be made to the financial statements of Generali 
verzekeringsgroep nv for further information regarding the cost of employees and directors (see 
note 22.3 for the allocated costs of directors).  

20 Risk Management 

20.1 Risk Management framework 

This part of the report begins with a  description of the overall structure of corporate governance, 
the roles and responsibilities and reporting thereof. An explanation of operational risk 
management, compliance, capital management, ICT security management, and ALM are 
discussed in the next paragraphs. 

 

20.1.1 Corporate Governance 

The Dutch Corporate Governance Code does not formally apply to Generali Groep and 
underlying entities, since these are not listed on the stock exchange. The Board of Directors has 
concluded that the governance structure of Generali Groep is similar to that proposed in the 
Corporate Governance Code. This structure applies to all subsidiaries.  

Under Dutch law Generali Groep and its subsidiaries are subject to a mitigated structure regime. 
Therefore the Groep is required to have a Supervisory Board. As a consequence there is a 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Current tax 1.573        -3.144

Deferred tax 32             242

Total 1.605        -2.902

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Nominal tax rate 25,0% 25,0%

Profit before tax 6.068 -11.631

Tax payable at nominal rate 1.517 -2.908

Tax exemption for associated companies 88 6

Total tax expense for the year 1.605 -2.902

Effective tax rate for the year 26,5% 24,9%
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distinction between the Board of Directors which is responsible for the operation of the company, 
and the Supervisory Board, which is responsible for the supervision of the Board of Directors.  
At the end of 2014 the Supervisory Board consists of two members nominated by Assicurazioni 
Generali S.p.A. and two members nominated by the local company.  
 

The interests of shareholders and other stakeholders, roles and responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors, integrity and ethical behaviour of management and employees, remuneration policy, 
disclosure and transparency are items that are discussed at the meetings of both the Board of 
Directors and the Supervisory Board. 

The Risk Governance Structure as defined in legal and stakeholder requirements is given active 
attention. Amongst shareholder requirements are an Internal Control and Risk Management 
System, a Group Compliance Charter and Risk Guidelines.  

The governance structure of the Generali Groep aims to mitigate conflicts of interests and moral 
hazard, in fact or in appearance, and provides a solid foundation to effectively execute business 
processes within clearly defined ethical and operational boundaries. Generali aims to realise the 
high ambitions of the international group, through implementing a solid organisation with 
adequately designed processes and roles. These standards are not static, and legal and social 
developments require us to constantly enhance the governance structure. 

The governance structure of the Generali Groep is designed to support: 

• the efficiency and effectiveness of corporate processes and documentation; 

• an adequate risk control; 

• the reliability and integrity of financial and management information; 

• the  safeguarding of company assets and stakeholder interests; 

• the compliance of the corporate endeavours with current legislation, regulations and 
corporate guidelines; 

• risk awareness. 

Requirements 

Legal requirements are mostly defined through the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het 
financieel toezicht).  

In December 2010 the Dutch Association of Insurers (Verbond van Verzekeraars) published 
governance principles in the form of the Dutch Insurance Code (Code Verzekeraars) 
subsequently referred to as the ‘Code’, in addition to the Insurers’ Code of Conduct which was 
drawn up in 2002. The Dutch Insurance Code was revised in 2013 and  governs all insurers that 
are in possession of a permit granted under the Dutch Financial Supervision Act. The Code 
addresses, in particular, the role of the insurer’s Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 
and the functions of risk management and auditing within the insurer. The Code also contains 
principles governing remuneration. 

Generali Groep is fully compliant with the Code, which requires compliance and an explanation. 
The way in which Generali Groep complies with the Code is published at www.generali.nl.  

Remuneration policy, tasks and responsibilities 
 
Under the statutory regulations of institutions such as DNB, we have established some basic 
principles for restrained remuneration policy. All legislative frameworks such as those formulated in 
the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, WFT) also apply to this policy. 
At Generali, remuneration policy is set out in the policy document entitled Beheerst Belonen bij 
Generali (Restrained Remuneration at Generali). The related Assessment & Remuneration 
Regulations have also been drawn up. 
 
The responsibility for setting restrained remuneration policy within the group lies with the 
Management Board (with the exception of the restrained remuneration policy applicable to the 
Management Board itself). This policy must be in line with company objectives, and should remain 
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commensurate with the socially acceptable standards for remuneration. The Management Board is 
also responsible for ensuring that the established policy is implemented effectively. 
 
The Supervisory Board acts as the internal supervisory body for remuneration policy, and must 
approve the remuneration policy set by the Management Board. Without such approval, it is neither 
possible nor permissible to implement the policy. As the supervisory body, it is the task of the 
Supervisory Board to continually monitor compliance of the remuneration policy with the basic 
restrained remuneration principles, during its establishment, application and modification. The 
Supervisory Board must also apply these principles in situations in which Generali wishes to issue 
a variable payment that departs from standard Restrained Remuneration policy. In its internal 
supervisory activities, the Supervisory Board must take the long-term interests of all stakeholders 
into consideration. 
 
Remuneration policy objectives 
 
The Restrained Remuneration policy at Generali aims to establish a clear and simple remuneration 
structure that caters for the scope and set-up of Generali, as well as the nature, complexity and 
scope of its activities.  
The remuneration policy helps to promote the medium and long-term interests of the company 
without encouraging board or staff members to act in their own interests or to take risks 
incommensurate with the established strategy and risk profile. Neither does the remuneration 
policy include any incentives that are at odds with Generali’s obligation to act in the interests of its 
customers and other stakeholders, or that are in conflict with Generali’s other duty of care 
obligations.  
The remuneration policy is in agreement with the principles of effective risk management.  
The level and structure of the remuneration itself allow for the recruitment and retention of qualified 
and expert staff. In setting overall emoluments, the effect on pay ratios throughout the company is 
taken into consideration.   
 
The Restrained Remuneration policy is based on a risk analysis that looks at which pay incentives 
potentially result in the careless treatment of customers and/or adversely affect the reliability of the 
company, and describes how these risks can be managed. In determining the Restrained 
Remuneration policy, consideration has also been taken of Generali’s own compliance regulations, 
specifically those concerning conflicts of interest, the ethical code and the code of conduct (of 
Generali and insurers). 
 
The scope of the Restrained Remuneration policy  
 
The Restrained Remuneration policy covers all employees of Generali verzekeringsgroep nv. As of 
2012, variable remuneration will no longer be a part of the remuneration packages of these 
employees. 
A separate policy has been drawn up for Management Board members and set out in the 
document titled Bezoldigingsbeleid Directie Generali verzekeringsgroep NV (Remuneration Policy 
for Generali verzekeringsgroep nv Board Members). Only the remuneration policy for Management 
Board members includes a variable component, as dictated by the ‘Bonus Scheme’ and ‘Long-term 
Incentive Plan’ of the Italian parent company Assicurazioni Generali SpA. Of course, the variable 
remuneration policy applicable to the Management Board must at all times be in agreement with 
local policy, to the extent that this is based on local laws and legislation. 
 
Variable remuneration applicable to the Management Board 
 
This document (Restrained Remuneration at Generali) describes how the above-mentioned 
variable remuneration has been designed. Among other things, the policy on variable remuneration 
covers: (i) the criteria on which the ratio between fixed and variable remuneration is based; (ii) the 
maximum permissible amount that can be awarded as variable remuneration; (iii) the financial and 
non-financial conditions (customer satisfaction) that govern any type of variable remuneration, 
including the penalty (malus) system. If after the payment of variable remuneration it transpires that 
the positive result on which it was based is demonstrably attributable to improper conduct on the 
part of the staff member concerned, Generali will have the right to demand that the variable 
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remuneration be returned either wholly or in part (this is known as a ‘clawback’). The policy also 
prohibits hedging. 
 
Variable remuneration is paid out partly in cash and partly in financial instruments. Because 
Generali verzekeringsgroep nv has not issued any listed shares, payment in the form of financial 
instruments is effected through the use of ‘remuneration shares’ whose value is derived from (i) an 
index based on the development of ‘embedded value’, linked to the value development of the 
shares of Assicurazioni Generali SpA; and (ii) an index based on developments in customer 
satisfaction. 
 
The policy also states that variable remuneration is to be paid in stages. Fifty per cent of variable 
remuneration is paid upon allocation. The remaining 50% is paid pro rata across a period of three 
years, assuming a three-year business cycle. Any financial instruments (remuneration shares) 
granted may not be redeemed for a period of one year after issue (i.e., a ‘lock-up’ applies). 
 
The three-year business cycle is consistent with the company’s strategic plan, and as such is also 
in line with the LTIP. 
 
The allocation and payment of variable remuneration is always subject to assessment or 
reassessment of the extent to which the applicable conditions have been met. To this end, the 
matter of assessments and reassessments of the allocation and payment of variable remuneration 
will be raised annually by the Supervisory Board and the Remuneration Committee. 
Special conditions apply to the payment of variable remuneration upon termination of employment. 
Only when the termination is due to death or occupational disability will the variable remuneration 
be paid directly and in full, without any penalties. 
 
In cases of retirement or redundancy, the postponed variable remuneration will remain intact and 
be determined and paid upon expiry of the phased payment period, with due observation of the 
retention period (the lock-up) and with the provisions related to reassessment remaining in full 
force. 
In cases of voluntary resignation or dismissal for urgent cause, all postponed variable remuneration 
will be forfeited without the right to compensation. 
 
In principle, this will also apply to dismissal by agreement. However, following a recommendation 
by the Remuneration Committee, the Supervisory Board may decide to honour instances of 
variable remuneration at its discretion, either wholly or in part. In such cases, retention periods will 
remain in force, as will any provisions related to reassessment.  
 
Variable payments may not exceed 20% of the annual (fixed) salary. 
 
Incidental limited variable remuneration for outstanding performance or effort 
 
A limited form of variable remuneration will remain available for other, non-board staff members of 
Generali verzekeringsgroep nv on a strictly incidental basis, in cases of outstanding performance or 
effort that are not reflected in any periodic increase. ‘Outstanding’ refers to a level of performance 
that is a part of neither the job description nor the normal departmental activities. In addition to 
exceptional extreme effort, this may also include one-off ideas or activities that have a substantial 
positive impact on the company. Any such rewards may never exceed one month’s salary. 
 
As soon as there is cause, it will be determined whether the relevant staff are eligible for any such 
additional remuneration, which is therefore not an individual or acquired right.  
 
A manager may submit a substantiated proposal to the HRM adviser for allocation of such 
remuneration to a staff member, which proposal must include the amount. The ultimate decision of 
whether to pay additional remuneration as described above lies with the Management Board.  
 
The remuneration policy has been reviewed in the last half of 2014 in order to meet the 
requirements as set by the formal supervisors (DNB). A regular check on the remuneration policy 
takes place at least once a year, in order to remain compliant. 
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All members of the Board of Directors bear their own responsibility for permanent education. The 
CEO of the Generali Groep takes the activities performed on permanent education by the Board 
members in their field of expertise into account when he, on a yearly basis, evaluates their 
performance. Board members also participate on a collective basis in education sessions 
prepared by internal or external experts. In 2013 the members of the Board participated in several 
risk, Solvency II and interest rate hedging workshops. 

The Code is an insurance specific evolution of the Dutch Corporate Government Code. In 
addition, Generali Group has provided strict guidelines on how to implement a solid corporate 
governance structure.  

Governance policies and legislation have been translated by the Compliance Officers into a 
number of guidelines and codes of conduct. These guidelines include rules to avoid conflict of 
interest, rules for the treatment of whistle-blowers, rules for investments transactions, the way 
incidents both internally and with business partners are dealt with and norms for (risk) disclosures 
in financial reports.  

Corporate Compliance monitors compliance with these guidelines and codes. The Internal Audit 
Department monitors and reports to the Risk & Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board on the 
compliance function of Generali Groep as well as its findings regarding the design, actual 
implementation and effectiveness of the risk control framework. 

Lines of Defence 

The organisation assigns all corporate functions within a scheme characterised by three 
organisational levels: 

-  the first, operational level, whose ultimate responsibility is up to the Board of Directors and 
senior management and includes the realisation of company goals with a reasonable amount of 
assurance. Risk and controlling activities are considered an integral part of every corporate 
process, falling under the responsibilities of the director of each organisational unit. 

-  the second level consists of the organisational unit that, with a high degree of inter- and intra-
level independence, is in charge of specific business controlling and independent risk controlling. 
These units set out the business control and risk management responsibilities for each operating 
area, service and function. The units develop corporate policies and standards, as well as 
challenge the first line of defence in their controlling and risk management activities, in 
accordance to the company goals and organisational structure. 

- the third level, consisting of the Internal Audit Department, has supervisory functions and reports 
directly to the CEO and the Risk and Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board, has 
organisational autonomy and is responsible for assessing the solidity of the system and the 
reliability of its information-/dataflow from a risk and control management point of view. This is 
realised through the execution of an Internal Audit program.   

Roles, bodies and responsibilities 

The solidity of the internal control system and the efficiency and effectiveness of controls are 
based on segregated functions. 

The bodies with the most significant functions and duties from a governance point of view are the 
Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, the Risk Committee, the Risk & Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee.  

The Risk Committee assists the Board of Directors in outlining the company risk profile and the 
related economic capital levels. Amongst other tasks the committee monitors the risk profile of 
the organisation based on the reports of the relevant services and supports the Board in outlining 
any corrective activities. The committee consists of the CEO, CFO, all Business Unit directors, 
the managers of the Internal Audit Department (IAD), the Legal department, and Risk & Control 
and the Corporate Compliance Officer. 
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In line with Dutch legislation the Risk & Audit Committee (a committee of the Supervisory Board) is 
especially involved in issues with respect to governance, risk management, internal controls, 
financial reporting, internal audit and external auditors. 
20.1.2 Roles & Responsibilities 

Within Generali Group an enterprise risk framework has been implemented, throughout which the 
following roles can be identified: 

• Risk Owner: within the first operational level, managers in charge of operating areas are 
directly responsible for taking, managing and controlling risks. They provide the Board of 
Directors, through the Risk Committee, the elements required to define the policies, methods 
and tools to manage and control the risks within their areas, coordinate their implementation 
and ensure their adequacy over time. Also, they take corrective actions autonomously or 
recommend them to the CEO.  

• Chief Risk Officer: provides information and suggestions to the Risk Committee in order to 
pursue risk management goals, continuous exchange of views with group and country 
managers in charge of areas of activity and monitoring the risk management activities taking 
place. 

• Risk Analyst: within the second Line of Defence, assists the directors in the self assessment 
processes in terms of risks and controls associated with every corporate process. 

• Risk Observer: this role measures and analyses risks and draws up observations and/or 
recommendations for the Board and the Risk Owners. Accordingly, they cannot directly make 
risk management decisions. This role is performed by the Risk and Control department, 
which includes the roles of Compliance and Security Officers, Risk Analysts and Business 
Controllers. 

• Compliance Officer: within the first Line of Defence, the Compliance Officer identifies, records 
and assesses compliance risks associated with the organisation's current and proposed 
future business activities. He reports his findings to the Business Director, department 
managers and the Compliance Officer in the second line. The Compliance Officer draws up 
internal guidelines for the implementation of the company’s compliance policy and stimulates 
awareness of the organisation of Generali Groep’s compliance policy and acts as advisor on 
such to the organisation.  

• Corporate Compliance Officer: within the second Line of Defence, the Compliance Officer 
identifies, records and assesses compliance risks associated with the organisation's current 
and proposed future business activities. He reports his findings to the CEO and other Risk 
Committee members. The CEO, Business Director or the Corporate Compliance Officer 
report non-compliance with any legislation or regulation to the regulator charged with the 
supervision of compliance with that legislation or regulation, or non-compliance with external 
guidelines to the issuer of such. The Corporate Compliance Officer draws up internal 
guidelines for the implementation of the company’s compliance policy and sets up a 
framework to stimulate awareness of the organisation of Generali Groep’s compliance policy 
and acts as advisor on such to the organisation.  

• Security Officer: within the second Line of Defence, the Security Officer identifies and 
assesses the risks regarding damage and unavailability of information, as well as the quality 
of safeguarding against improper access and use of information. The Security Officer advises 
the Risk Committee on an Information Security policy, draws up internal guidelines for the 
implementation of this policy and monitors and challenges the organisation’s efforts with 
regard to its Information Security-related activities. He reports his findings to the CEO and 
other Risk Committee members where the operations are not compliant with the company’s 
Information Security policies. 

 

Reporting 

A monitoring and reporting structure is in place, aligned with the respective bodies and their roles 
such as identified and described within the Governance Structure. It supports periodic as well as 
incidental reporting on the risk management framework, its effectiveness and the organisation’s 
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risk profile. This reporting structure provides an information flow to each of the bodies identified 
within the company's Governance Structure. Thus, each of the bodies can perform its role in 
order to realise company goals with a reasonable amount of assurance. Throughout 2013 the 
reporting structure has been fortified substantially in order to facilitate adequate internal reporting 
on Compliance and Security. This fortification currently and primarily exists of a monthly risk 
report drawn up by the second Line of Defence on the basis of input by risk owners in the first 
Line. The report shows changes in the risk profile and the development of the company's 
capabilities of managing risk. The second Line of Defence adds analyses and advice, resulting in 
a monthly cycle of mitigating the most substantial changes in the risk profile. 

 

20.1.3 Operational Risk Management 

The primary objectives of the company's operational risk management framework are to fulfil and 
protect customer and shareholder needs, keeping in mind the company's own goals. Operational 
risks are defined as unexpected losses arising either from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, or from personnel and systems or from external events. It includes legal, compliance 
and security risk and excludes reputation risk and risks arising from strategic decisions. 

Considering stakeholder needs, the organisation seeks to guard against operational losses 
exceeding risk appetites specified by the Board of Directors, supported by Risk & Control. On the 
other hand, the organisation seeks to identify opportunities with a higher risk profile in order to 
fulfil stakeholder needs, but that can be utilised in a controlled manner. This is supported by a risk 
management function, with a distinctive role in relation to the Board of Directors and the 
associated executive management committees. It is supplemented with an organisational 
structure with delegated authorities and responsibilities from the Board of Directors to executive 
management committees, as well as a proven set of methods based on the COSO II-best 
practices. 

Requirements 

The operations of the company are subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in 
which it operates. The company only operates within the Netherlands. Our most important 
supervisors are The Dutch Central Bank (DNB) and the Financial Market Authority (AFM). DNB 
are primarily interested in protecting the rights of policyholders by setting Solvency requirements 
and testing our risk frameworks. The AFM are primarily interested in protecting the rights of 
policyholders by monitoring market behaviour of insurance companies. This to ensure that the 
company is satisfactorily managing affairs for the customers’ benefit.  

In addition, requirements are set by such parties as the ACM, the supervisor which focuses on 
fair competition, by the Dutch Association of Insurers (Verbond van Verzekeraars), which is a 
protector of interests within the insurance sector, and by the ultimate parent company Generali 
Group, through which additional international requirements may be enforced. 

Methods  

The Board of Directors approves the risk management policies and methods and meets regularly 
to approve any commercial, regulatory, financial and organisational requirements of such policies.  

In order to achieve its own internal control goals the company identifies what adequate internal 
controls exist in every process, procedure and activity. The company has placed great emphasis 
on assessment and documentation of risks and controls, including the articulation of 'risk 
appetite'. 

Internal controls are codified and formalised for each of the activities within the organisational 
units of the company and are based on a self assessment method allowing: 

• identification of any risks and process vulnerabilities; 

• assessment of control processes; 

• reporting and monitoring processes; 



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 54 of 80 

• development of action plans to reduce the risk to keep this within acceptable levels as 
defined through the coordination of the second Line of Defence and adopted by the Board of 
Directors. 

 

20.1.4 Compliance 

The risk of non-compliance arises when aforementioned guidelines and regulations are breached. 
Such breaches can result in claims against our businesses, penalties and eventually in loss of 
reputation. It can lead to losses (legal or regulatory sanctions or material financial losses, or 
reputational damage) rising from failure to comply with laws, regulations and Regulators' 
provisions or also self-regulation rules such as statutes or codes of conduct. It is also the risk 
coming from adverse changes in legal developments. 

Generali Schade is committed to conserving the integrity and reputation of the businesses (this 
includes the principle of customer interests central (klantbelang centraal) and has instated a no-
tolerance policy for compliance risks. The company has a programme through which 
assessments take place in order to enhance compliance and especially the documentation 
thereof. Whenever compliance breaches are identified, action plans are defined and monitored to 
either resolve the breach or explain why it is acceptable that a specific requirement is not adhered 
to. 

Requirements 

The company and its employees have to comply with common law, regulations and guidelines 
from DNB, AFM and the Dutch Association of Insurers, as well as requirements defined from 
within the Generali Group and standards that Generali Groep voluntarily wishes to adhere to. 
Both at Generali Group (Trieste) and local levels ethical guidelines are set out. Integrity 
guidelines deal with issues regarding employees, products and services, co-operation with third 
parties and intermediaries, and client acceptance. 

Methods 

Compliance has the continued attention and Generali Schade encourages management and 
other employees to stimulate awareness of compliance issues. In this way Generali Schade 
expects to assure a proactive approach towards compliance issues. Eventually compliance 
should be seen as a daily responsibility for both management and employees. Structural 
compliance activities are embedded within the risk management cycle, including the assessment 
of compliancy through the use of continuous, company wide compliance scans. These 
compliance scans comprise thematic scans as well as specific regulation based scans.  

Compliance activities include: 

• identifying and analysing compliance risks and prioritising effective measures; 

• defining business principles for management and employees; 

• defining effective procedures as part of the implementation of the integrity policy; 

• consulting and training of risk takers as well as risk owners, including support to a Permanent 

Education programme for Supervisory Board and Board of Directors’ members. 

An independent Corporate Compliance Officer has been appointed within the Second Line of 
Defence. The Compliance Officer’s task is to monitor, advise, facilitate and escalate regarding the 
translation of law, regulations, guidelines and values into Generali Schade’s business principles 
and to assess compliance with those principles and regulations. Additionally, several compliance 
roles have been identified within the First Line of Defence. These employees function as liaison 
for the Corporate Compliance Officer and specialise in monitoring and implementing the specific 
requirements applicable to their operational disciplines. 
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20.1.5 Security Management 

Security covers a wide variety of specific operational risks. It comprises illegal access to or 
possession of Generali Groep’s digital and physical property, or damaging that property. Generali 
has a no-tolerance policy for security risks. Whenever security risks are identified, action plans 
are defined and executed to either dissolve the breach or explain why a specific security risk is 
acceptable and is not mitigated. 

Requirements 

Several laws apply to the protection of properties that are entrusted to the care of Generali 
Groep, partially under the supervision of the Dutch Data Protection Authority (College 
Bescherming Persoonsgegevens), partially by DNB and for a large part protected by private law. 
There is a legal obligation to execute controlled, prudent operational policies to protect general 
stakeholder needs, which are mostly principle based. 

Methods 

Security management is the responsibility of risk owners within the first Line of Defence. 
Throughout 2014 security risks were addressed as regular operational risks. Generali designated 
a second Line of Defence role, in which a Security Officer aims for enhanced risk identification, 
mitigation, monitoring and reporting. The Security Officer actively pursues adequate control in 
operations and demonstrable compliance to the relevant requirements, by upgrading the local 
Security Risk Framework and by challenging the risk owners in their capacity as security risk 
owners.   

Best practices dictate the organisational capacities required in order to adequately control during, 
and recover after, major impact events take place. Where these best practices relate to 
information technology, Generali Group issued an obligatory IT Security Guideline, aiming to 
enhance the mitigation of security risks. 

 

20.1.6 Capital management 

Capital management objectives, policies and approach  

The company has established the following capital management objectives, policies and 
approach to managing the risks that affect its capital position: 

Objectives: 

• to maintain financial strength and required solvency to support new business growth and to 

satisfy the requirements of the policyholders, regulators and other stakeholders; 

• to allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that 

returns on capital employed meet the requirements of the shareholders; 

• to align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the insurance 

business. 

The operations of the company are subject to regulatory requirements. Such regulations not only 
prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g. 
capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance 
companies to meet unforeseen liabilities as these arise.  

Policies: 

The company’s capital management policy is to hold sufficient capital to cover the statutory 
requirements based on the DNB directives. The company has met the regulatory minimum 
solvency requirements throughout the financial year 2014.  

Generali Schade defined as an internal target  to maintain a minimum Solvency I ratio of 130%. 
The company has further defined an additional general “early signal threshold”, set at a level of 
150%.  When the Solvency ratio decreases below this threshold predefined actions are to be 
executed or indeed intensified.  
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Approach to capital management:  

The company has made no significant changes in its policies and processes to manage its capital 
during the past year.  

Capital requirements are routinely forecast on a periodic basis and assessed against both the 
forecast available capital and the expected internal rate of return, including risk and sensitivity 
analyses. The process is ultimately subject to approval by the Board. 

The company is developing together with the parent company an internal framework to identify 
the risks and quantify their impact on the economic capital.  

The primary source of capital used by the company is equity shareholders’ funds.  

The company reviews its strategic asset allocation on an annual basis to ensure that it 
consistently optimises returns to the shareholders and policyholders under going concern 
principles.  

The company’s approach to managing capital involves managing assets, liabilities and risks in a 
coordinated way, assessing Solvency levels on a regular basis and taking appropriate actions to 
influence the capital position of the company in the light of  changes in economic conditions and 
risk characteristics. 

The company states in its Solvency policy that when the Solvency I ratio is below 130% it can 
request from Generali Groep or subsequently Generali Group either an subordinated debt or 
capital endowment. 

It is Generali Group’s strategic policy to ensure that the company is properly capitalised to meet 
its obligations. Generali Group confirms to have an important interest that the company stands in 
the market with a clear and proper financial position, also in order to maintain a positive 
reputation in the market. 

20.1.7 Asset Liability Management 

Asset liability management (ALM) framework 

Financial risks arise from positions in interest bearing and other investments, all of which are 
exposed to general and specific market movements. The main risk that the company faces, due 
to the nature of its investments and liabilities, is insurance risk. The company manages its 
positions within an ALM framework that has been developed to achieve long term investment 
returns in excess of its obligations under insurance contracts. The company’s ALM matches 
assets to the liabilities arising from insurance contracts by reference to the type of benefits 
payable to contract holders. Each year the company participates in the Economic Balance Sheet 
project of Generali Group. Therefore annually information can be derived regarding assets versus 
liability developments. 

 

20.2 Financial Risk Management  

As discussed in the risk management section of the Board of Directors’ report, the company 
evaluates various risks in qualitative and quantitative terms. This includes the following 
information that is required in these financial statements under IFRS 7:  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  

Generali Schade adopted the relevant Market risk guidelines as provided by Generali Group 
regarding the investments. These guidelines set out limits within the different classes of risk. The 
provided limits are congruent with the Overall Risk Appetite of Generali Group and its Enterprise 
Risk Framework. 

The Market risk guidelines are congruent with the local risk appetite and local regulations. 
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The next sections present the main market risks for the company:  

• interest rate risk (fixed income); 

• credit risk (fixed income); and 

• price risk (equity). 

The investments in currency other than euro are limited, therefore no material currency risks are 
present and currency risk will not be discussed any further. 

20.2.1 Interest rate risk  

Definition  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument or liability 
will fluctuate because of a change in prevailing market interest rates. If changes in the values of 
assets and liabilities do not match, the company’s equity may be affected by changes in the yield 
curve.  

The book value of the insurance liabilities is determined by discounting expected future cash 
flows at a fixed rate. Consequently, interest rate movements have little direct impact on the book 
value of the liabilities. However, minimum guaranteed returns on certain products require us to 
generate a return that surpasses the average actuarial discount rate to remain profitable. 

The impact on the value of fixed income assets of a 100 base points upward and downward shift 
in the swap curve has been calculated. All other variables are held constant. Generali Schade did 
so by calculating the spread over the zero yield curve published by the Dutch Central Bank 
implied by each bond's Bloomberg generic value to which Generali Schade  added, or from which 
Generali Schade subtracted, 100 base points before recalculating the bond’s value. In principle 
the impact (both up- and downward) would be recognised directly in equity. 

 

Yield sensitivity bond portfolio: 

  

 

Liquidity risk 

Cash flows fixed income portfolio (Maturity analysis) 

The table below shows the contractual cash flows (repayments and coupons)  from fixed income 
instruments on the balance sheet held at year-end 2014. Cash flows of (and positions in) equity 
and cash are not included. Also in this table we disregard possible reinvestment of cash flows. 

Portfolio

Impact on 

equity

Impact on 

P&L

Value 244.129

Shock 100bp up QIS -13.734 -10.300 -             

Shock 100 bp down QIS 1.400 1.050 -             

Interest rate risk   (x €1.000)
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Liabilities Cash Flows  (Maturity analysis) 

The following table shows expected payment for incurred claims against non-life insurance 
policies net of reinsurance. Cash flows are shown undiscounted. Cash flows are based on historic 
payment patterns. 

 

Based on the cash flow figures above the company has concluded that liquidity cash flow issues 
are not expected in the near future. 

20.2.2 Credit risk 

Definition  

Credit or default risk is the risk that a counterparty will fail to fulfil its financial obligations in a 
timely manner. This risk primarily occurs with fixed income instruments and reinsurance assets. 

As reinsurance assets relate primarily to reinsurance contracts with Generali Group, which has an 
A- rating for financial strength at Fitch, and S&P’s and Baa1 at Moody’s; Bond loans are rated at 
BBB level, therefore the corresponding credit risks are considered to be low. 

Generali Schade has adopted the Generali Group risk guidelines regarding the maximum 
exposure allowed to any specific credit rating. These guidelines limit the exposure to 
counterparties that do not hold an investment grade credit rating. The provided limits are 
congruent with the Overall Risk Appetite of Generali Group and its Enterprise Risk Framework. 
The credit risk guidelines are congruent with the local risk appetite and regulations. 

 

  

 

Maturity Cash flow

0-5 years 156.587

5-10 years 92.189

10-15 years 3.490

15-20 years -                 

20-25 years -                 

25-30 years -                 

30-35 years -                 

35-40 years -                 

Total 252.266

Contractual cash flow from fixed income   (x €1.000)

 

Maturity Cash flow

0-5 years 158.762

5-10 years 29.521

10-15 years 14.771

15-20 years 7.612

20-25 years 3.343

25-30 years 1.134

30-35 years 239

35-40 years 40

Total 215.422

Expected cash payments from claims   (x €1.000)
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In the table below the government bonds are divided into countries. 

 

 

 

Credit exposure by rating 

The table below shows the composition of the reinsurance assets and bond portfolio at year end 
2014 by rating. Generali Schade assigns to the bonds, if available, the second best rating 
provided by the rating agencies Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch.  

 

 

No impairments were recorded in respect of bonds in 2014. Refer also to note 13. 

 

 

(x € 1.000)

Government Bonds Fair value

Amortised 

cost Fair value

Amortised 

cost

The Netherlands 73.754        66.565        59.641        56.339        

Germany 18.857        16.766        35.169        34.193        

France 39.870        35.055        45.035        40.730        

Austria 34.335        29.851        38.444        34.793        

Belgium 23.453        20.601        22.853        20.790        

European Investment Bank 5.224          5.017          5.348          5.030          

Total 195.493      173.855      206.490      191.875      

20132014

Rating

Reinsurance 

assets

Government 

bonds

Corporate 

bonds

Bond 

portfolio

AAA -                   132.169        6.766            138.935        

AA+ -                   -                   -                   -                   

AA 13.706          63.323          1.209            64.532          

AA- 12.554          -                   -                   -                   

A+ 1.214            -                   3.928            3.928            

A -               -                   5.512            5.512            

A- 3.301            -                   10.566          10.566          

BBB+ 17.852          -                   13.404          13.404          

BBB -                   -                   4.569            4.569            

BBB- 648              -                   2.682            2.682            

BB+ -                   -                   -                   -                   

BB -                   -                   -                   -                   

BB- -                   -                   -                   -                   

NR 6.077            -                   -                   -                   

Total 55.352          195.492        48.637          244.129        

Credit ratings   (x €1,000)
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Collaterals 

Generali Schade has engaged in the lending of securities whose legal ownership has – yet 
whose beneficial ownership has not – been transferred from the company. Collateral to cover the 
risk of the securities not being returned has been requested and obtained. This collateral consists 
of bonds. The proceeds on securities lending, amounting to € 8(2013: € 34), are accounted for 
under income from other investments in the income statement. As at year-end, an amount of 
€ 33.273 (2013: € 17.630) has been lent. These lent securities are all AFS bonds. 

As eligible collateral for the lending activities are allowed: bonds denominated in euro that are 
issued within the EMU, that have the euro as sole currency and that have at least a rating of AA- 
by Standard & Poor’s or Fitch or AA3 by Moody’s. Also at least 50% of the collateral should 
consist out of EMU government bonds with a AAA rating. Because of these restrictions to the 
collateral we deem the position to be liquid. 

 

Generali Schade holds the following collaterals in respect of securities lending: 

 

The loaned out securities are not derecognised and the collateral (bonds) is not recognised on 
the balance sheet. 

20.2.3 Equity risk 

Definition 

Equity risk is the risk that the value of shares in other companies suffer from a fund-specific or 
market wide decline in prices of such shares.  

To capture the downward equity risk, we apply a 10% negative stress to market consistent equity 
values. The sensitivity shown below is linear. Equities are carried as available for sale 
investments.  Changes in fair value impact the revaluation reserve in equity. In case of 
impairment, the change goes through profit or loss. 

 

 

20.2.4 Counterparty risk 

Generali Schade is not exposed to counterparty risk from derivative contracts.  

The company has entered into a securities lending agreement with Kasbank Nederland NV. To 
mitigate counterparty risk a collateral equivalent to 102% of assets lent has been negotiated. In 
addition to this 2% collateral margin minimum requirements have been defined with respect to the 
quality of the collateral regarding currency, rating and issuer.  

 

 

(x €1.000) 2014 2013

Securities loaned out 33.273      17.630

Collateral received 35.220      18.759

Portfolio

Impact on 

equity

Impact on 

P&L

Value 545

Shock -10% -55 -41 -               

Shock +10% 55 41 -               

Equity price risk   (x €1,000)
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20.3 Insurance Risk 

Generali Schade is party to non-life insurance contract liabilities which comprise general 
insurance and health coverage. 

Non-life insurance contract liabilities include the outstanding claims provision. The outstanding 
claims provision is based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at 
the reporting date, whether reported or not. Delays can be experienced in the notification and 
settlement of certain types of claims, therefore the ultimate cost of these cannot be known with 
certainty at the reporting date. The liability is calculated at the reporting date using a range of 
standard actuarial claim projection techniques, based on empirical data and current assumptions 
that may include a margin for adverse deviation. The liability is not discounted for the time value 
of money. However, the products disability and WIA/WGA are discounted with a risk free rate. No 
provision for equalisation or catastrophe reserves is recognised. The liabilities are derecognised 
when the obligation to pay a claim expires, is discharged or is cancelled. 

For non-life insurance contracts, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost 
of claims reported at the reporting date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but 
not yet reported at the reporting date (IBNR). It can take a significant period of time before the 
ultimate claims cost can be established with certainty and for some type of policies, IBNR claims 
form the majority of the liability in the statement of financial position. Within the analyses this is 
taken in account. Moreover a provision for claim handling expenses is carried on the books. 

The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims 
projection techniques, such as the Chain Ladder method. 

The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a company’s past claims development 
experience can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. As 
such, these methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per 
claim and number of claims based on the observed development of earlier years and expected 
loss ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analysed by accident years, but can also be 
further analysed by geographical area, as well as by significant business lines and claim types. 
Large claims are usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face value of loss 
adjuster estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future development. In most 
cases, no explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss ratios. 
Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in the historical claims development data on 
which the projections are based. Additional qualitative judgment is used to assess the extent to 
which past trends may not apply in future (for example to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in 
external or market factors such as public attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels of 
claims inflation, judicial decisions and legislation, as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, 
policy features and claims handling procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of 
claims that presents the likely outcome from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all 
the uncertainties involved. 

Such uncertainties are regularly assessed to determine whether estimation methods need to be 
adjusted. Reference should be made to paragraph 2.3 ‘Use of Estimates’ where the impact of 
changes in the use of estimates has been described and the financial impact on the current year 
is disclosed. 

Insurance Risk 

The principal risk the company faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and 
benefit payments or the timing thereof differ from expectations. This is influenced by the 
frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of 
long–term claims. Therefore, the objective of the company is to ensure that sufficient reserves are 
available to cover these liabilities.  

The risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts 
and geographical areas. The variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and 
implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance 
arrangements. 
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The company purchases reinsurance as part of its risks mitigation programme. Reinsurance 
ceded is placed on both a proportional and non–proportional basis. The majority of proportional 
reinsurance is in the form of a surplus reinsurance which is taken out to reduce excess exposure 
of the Company to disability losses. Non-proportional reinsurance is primarily excess-of-loss 
reinsurance designed to mitigate the company’s net exposure to catastrophe losses. Retention 
limits for the excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product line and territory. 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding 
claims provision and are in accordance with the reinsurance contracts. Although the company 
has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders and 
thus a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to the extent that any reinsurer is 
unable to meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. The company’s 
placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor 
are the operations of the company substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract. 

 
Key assumptions 
The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the company’s future claims 
development will follow a similar pattern to past claims development experience. This includes 
assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling costs, claim inflation factors and 
number of claims for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgments are used to assess the 
extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for example: once-off occurrence, 
changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as 
internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures. Judgment 
is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and 
government legislation affect the estimates. 

Expenses 

Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in-force 
policies and associated overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an 
appropriate expense base, adjusted for expected expense inflation if appropriate. An increase in 
the level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure, thereby reducing profits for the 
shareholders. 

Discount rate 

AOV B, WAO and WIA insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the discounted value of 
the expected liabilities and future administration expenses directly related to the contract. 
Discount rates are based on current risk free rate published by DNB. A decrease in the discount 
rate will increase the value of the insurance liability and therefore reduce profits for the 
shareholders. 

Sensitivities 

The non-life insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions that follow. It has not 
been possible to quantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as legislative changes or 
uncertainty in the estimation process. 

The following analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with 
all other assumptions held constant, showing the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit before 
tax and equity. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the 
ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, 
assumptions had to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in 
these assumptions are non-linear. 

Simple Risk 

Product: Accident, AOV A, Fire, Marine, Motor Liability, Motor Material Damage, Property, 
Sickness 

Methodology: the risk margin  of the Solvency II calculation is based on the risk margin calculation 
of year end 2013. The risk margin is higher compared to the risk margin of year end 2014 since the 
interest term structure is lower than last year. 
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Long-tail branches 

Product: Motor Third Party Liability and General Third Party Liability 

Methodology:  

1. Based on the best estimate of the provision a risk margin is determined using the Mack 
method. The risk margin is determined with a high degree of reliability (a 99% confidence interval 
based on three times the standard deviation) via the Cost of Capital methodology of 6%. The 
cash flow of the risk margin is not discounted, which leads to a slightly prudent estimate. The 
sensitivity to change is calculated as the change in the best estimate provision. 

2. The tail factor of long tail branches (General Liability and Motor Liability) is increased by 7.5%. 
This factor of 7.5% is based on the most recent experience used to derive the best estimate. The 
change in increase of the provision is reported. The sensitivity is calculated as the change in the 
best estimate provision. 

The first sensitivity is shown below and is in total € 1.8 million. 

The sensitivity of the tail factor is in total for Liability € 1.0 million and for Motor Third Party 
Liability € 5.5 million. 

 

Health 

Product: WVV AOV, VPU AOV B, WAO 

Methodology: the provisions for these products the SII stress scenarios are used. This means 
that on the Best Estimate the following stresses are tested: 

• Disability: first year +35%, second year +25% 

• Rehabilitation: -20% all years 

• Mortality: -20% all years 

• Costs & Inflation: 10% higher costs, Cost inflation +1% 

• Indexation: +113% 

The sensitivity is calculated as the change in the best estimate provision. The sensitivity leads to 
a risk margin of € 2.9 million, which is 8.6% of the best estimate. The main driver behind the risk 
margin is rehabilitation shock. This shock is responsible for almost 90% of the risk margin due to 
the relatively large number of claims in recent years compared with older years. 

20.4 Other Risks 

Disasters 

Natural disasters, terrorism and fire can cause a disturbance in the activities of Generali and have 
impact on assets (for example buildings and operational tools such as computers), loss of 
information data and on employees. In general the company tries to limit financial losses by 
insurance and a by the periodic  testing of the operational contingency plan. 

Change in legislation 

The insurance activities of the company can be impacted by change in legislation. These impacts 
can follow from amongst other changes in tax-, employability- pension- and general-financial 
regulations. The impacts can lead to higher costs or lower margins for the company. 

 

Legal Claims 

During 2014 no legal claims have arisen that might have material impact on the shareholders’ 
equity of the company. 
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21 Discontinued operations 
As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 there were no discontinued operations. 

22 Related party transactions 
All transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length under terms and conditions 
which reflect the nature of risks borne/transferred. 

22.1 Contracts 

The following contracts with related parties were in force during the years reported on in this 
annual report: 

• Generali Schade is involved in a variety of insurance and reinsurance contracts with other 
entities forming part of the Generali Group. These contracts are designed to share risks 
across country borders. The most significant of these contracts are those with Generali 
S.p.A., the ultimate parent company in Trieste, whereby risks borne by Generali Schade are 
reinsured with group companies. A number of contracts involve 100% reinsurance of 
contracts with group companies in other European countries, including France, Spain and 
Austria. This has given rise to reinsurance assets at year-end of € 20.571 (2013: € 21.578).  

• Generali Groep employs all the staff working for Generali Schade, including senior 
management. It provides premises, facilitary services including IT, telephony, HRM services, 
and the like. Generali Groep allocates to Generali Schade a portion of the expenses it incurs. 
In 2014 that amounted to € 20.799 (2013: € 20.404). Furthermore, Generali Groep has 
allocated a proportion of the reorganisation charge amounting to € 2.050 (2013: € 3.889) and 
a propotion of the incremental depreciation on capitalized ICT projects amounting to € 1.355.  

• Generali Groep has contracted Generali Deutschland Holding AG (Germany) for the provision 
of IT and asset management services. Starting from October 2012, Generali Groep has 
moved the asset management services to Generali Investments Europe S.p.A. (Italy). A part 
of these IT and management costs are passed on to Generali Schade.  

• Employees and management of Generali Groep are entitled to a staff discount on the product 
range offered by Generali Schade. There have been no significant transactions between 
these parties in the years reported upon in these financial statements. 

• An annual contribution of € 392 (2013: € 314) has been paid to Meetingpoint BV, and 
business is directed through the platform run by Meetingpoint BV, but there have been no 
further transactions between Generali Schade and Meetingpoint BV. 

• Generali Schade holds an incoming reinsurance contract with Generali Leven for WIA and 
WGA.  

22.2 Transactions 

In March 2014 a share premium contribution of € 1.5 million  was made by Generali Schade to 
strengthen the equity of her associate “De Nederlanden van Nu”. No collateral has been 
furnished for the amounts payable to the related parties nor have any guarantees been received. 
The amounts payable are subject to market consistent lending terms and conditions. 

 

Expenses (x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Generali Group companies -5.436 -2.624

Total -5.436 -2.624
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22.3 Remuneration of directors and supervisory directors 

Remuneration of the directors and the supervisory directors is based on the cost allocation of 
Generali Groep (see note 19): 

  

 

 

23 Liabilities not shown on the face of the balance sheet and 
other risk factors 

23.1 Guarantees 

As a member of the Dutch reinsurance company for losses from terrorism (NHT), our share of the 
total guarantee for the first € 400 million in 2015 amounts to € 1.965 (2014: € 2.227). 

In accordance with Article 403 Title 9 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the company assumes joint 
and several liability for the debts incurred by NV Schadeverzekering maatschappij De 
Nederlanden van Nu. 

Generali Schade is part of the Generali Groep fiscal unity and therefore the company has a joint 
and several liability for the tax position concerning income  tax of the fiscal unity. This fiscal unity 
consists of Generali Groep and several of its subsidiaries, including Generali Schade. At the end 
of 2014 the fiscal unity has a tax receivable of € 27.4 million (2013: 11.4 million). The increase in 
2014 is due to fiscal losses and advanced payments. 

Assets (x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Generali Group companies 1.695 152

Generali Nederland N.V. -            2.130

Total 1.695 2.282

Liabilities (x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Generali Group companies 59             3.572        

Generali Nederland N.V. 2.798        -               

Total 2.857 3.572

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Current directors

Salaries 373           423           

Bonuses -               55             

Expenses for pensions and other post-employment benefits 106           154           

Total current directors 479           632           

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Current supervisory directors 33             43             

Former supervisory directors -               -               

Total 33             43             
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23.2 Securities lending 

Generali Schade has engaged in the lending of securities whose legal ownership has – but 
whose beneficial ownership has not – been transferred from the company (see note 20.2.2).  

23.3 Contingencies 

Within the normal course of business Generali Schade can be a party to activities, which risks are 
not reflected in the consolidated financial statements. These contingent liabilities are included in 
the notes to the Balance Sheet, unless there is only a minor chance on an outflow of cash, or 
other valuables. 

23.4 Other 

Generali Schade is involved in disputes concerning claims by and against the various Generali 
Schade companies arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the outcome of these 
disputes cannot be predicted, the management finds - based on the information available at 
present - it unlikely that their outcome will have any materially adverse effect on the financial 
position or results of operations of Generali Schade. Generali Schade has taken these disputes 
into account in the determination of the provision for outstanding claims. 

23.5 Leases 

Hereunder an overview of the operational leasing:  

 

After redemption of the lease, no obligations are in place to continue the operational lease. No 
sale and lease back construction is in place. 

23.6 Events after the reporting period 

Effective form January 1
st
 2015 Generali Schade and her subsidiary “De Nederlanden van Nu” 

have been merged (see note 33).. 
 

 

Diemen, 31 March 2015 

 

Jan van Leer     Freek Wansink 

Chief Executive Officer    Statutory Director 

 

 

Annette Mosman 

Statutory Director 

(x € 1.000) Date of contract End date of contract

Value of 

lease 

contract

Total 

months / 

terms Monthly fee

Capgemini 1 January 2012 31 December 2014 126 12             10             

Total 126           12             10             



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 67 of 80 

Company financial statements 
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Company balance sheet 

The balance sheet was prepared before profit appropriation. 

 

(x € 1.000)

Acct. 

Policy Note 2014 2013

Tangible fixed assets

Investments 25

Investments in group entities and participating 

interests:

- Interest in associate -            352        

- Interest in subsidiary 8.793     6.852     

Total 8.793     7.204     

Other financial investments 26

- Investment funds 546        4.407     

- Fixed-interest debt securities and other fixed 

income securities 234.364 239.896 

- Other financial investments 774        421        

Total other financial investments 235.684 244.724 

Deferred tax assets 1.022     1.016     

Deposits with insurers 338        363        

Receivables 27.1

Direct insurance receivables from:

- Intermediaries 7.977     13.211   

Reinsurance receivables 2.920     1.309     

-Other debtors 13.287   15.117   

Total receivables 24.184   29.637   

Other assets 27.3

Cash assets 10.455   4.353     

Prepayments and accrued income 27.2

Accrued interest 3.492     3.689     

Total prepayments and accrued income 3.492     3.689     

Total assets 283.967 290.986 
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(x € 1.000)

Acct. 

Policy Note 2014 2013

Equity 28

Paid-up and called capital 1.361     1.361     

Share premium reserve 7.803     7.803     

Revaluation reserves 19.174   13.130   

Other reserves 39.003   47.732   

Profit/loss for the year 4.463     -8.729     

Total 71.804   61.297   

Technical provisions relating to insurance contracts

For non- life insurance:

- gross 229.012 250.325 

- reinsurance share -35.761   -40.434   

Total technical provisions 193.251 209.891 

Deferred tax liabilities 6.342     4.371     

Other financial liabilities 29

Creditors arising from direct insurance 3.897     4.873     

Creditors arising from reinsurance 1.195     4.945     

Other liabilities 7.478     5.609     

Total 12.570   15.427   

Total liabilities 283.967 290.986 
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Company income statement 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Profit/loss from investments in group companies after tax 310           -1.593        

Other income and expenses after tax 4.153        -7.136        

Profit/loss after tax 4.463        -8.729        
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Notes to the company financial statements  

24 Basis of preparation and accounting policies 
The company financial statements of Generali Schade are prepared in accordance with Title 9 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. In accordance with Article 2:362(8) of the Dutch Civil Code, the 
company has prepared the company financial statements based on IFRS measurement. 

For a description of the IFRS accounting policies and measurement, please refer to the 
consolidated financial statements. The notes to the company financial statements contain only 
the information specific to the solo accounts. 

25 Investments in group companies and other participating 
interests 

 

 

The group companies are stated at their net asset value, determined on the basis of IFRS as 
applied in the consolidated financial statements of Generali Schade. 

Generali Schade holds 100% of the voting rights of NV Schadeverzekering Maatschappij De 
Nederlanden van Nu (De Nederlanden van Nu). There are no veto rights, blocking rights, 
preferred shares or convertible instruments.  

As a result, Generali Schade has power over De Nederlanden van Nu, has exposure to the 
variable returns of De Nederlanden van Nu and has the ability use its power over De 
Nederlanden van Nu to affect the amount of Generali Schade’s returns, so Generali Schade will 
account for De Nederlanden van Nu as a subsidiary. 

 

26 Other Financial Investments 

 

 

 

(x €1.000)

Balance 

sheet total Equity

Total 

proceeds

Total 

results

Number 

of 

shares Impairments Value

2014

Meetingpoint BV 3.199      1.975      5.343         53        17% 9           15.000 320             0            

N.V. Schadeverzekering 

Maatschappij De Nederlanden 

van Nu 19.282    8.793      26.758       310      100% 310        50.000 8.793     

Total 31 December 2014 22.481    10.768    32.101       362      318        8.794     

2013

Meetingpoint BV 5.336      2.112      5.058         -132      17% -22         15.000 352        

N.V. Schadeverzekering 

Maatschappij De Nederlanden 

van Nu 16.579    6.852      21.371       -1.571   100% -1.571     50.000 6.852     

Total 31 December 2013 21.915    8.964      26.429       -1.703   -1.593     7.204     

Generali’s share

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Shares and units in unit trusts 545          4.407        

Fixed income securities 234.364    239.896    

Other financial investments 774          421          

Total 235.684    244.724    
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26.1 Investment funds 

  

26.2 Fixed income securities 

 

26.3 Other financial investments 

 

 

  

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 4.407        4.180        

Revaluation -3.862        227           

Balance as at 31 December 545           4.407        

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 239.896     257.802     

Investments 16.064       9.638        

Disposals -30.066       -19.715       

Revaluation 8.469        -7.829        

Balance as at 31 December 234.364     239.896     

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Balance as at 1 January 421           150           

Investments 508           430           

Disposals -155           -159           

Balance as at 31 December 774           421           
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27 Current assets 

27.1 Receivables 

 

27.2 Prepayments and accrued income 

 

27.3 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and the cash equivalents are available for use. 

 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Receivables brokers 7.977        13.211      

Receivables reinsurers 2.920        1.309        

Current account Generali verzekeringsgroep N.V. -               2.315        

Receivables other 13.287      12.802      

Total 24.184      29.637      

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Accrued interest 3.492        3.689        

Total 3.492        3.689        

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Cash at bank and in hand 10.455       4.353        

Total 10.455       4.353        
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28 Equity 

28.1 Statement of changes in equity 

 

28.2 Paid-up and called capital 

The authorised capital amounts to 10.000 shares at € 453,78, of which 3.000 at € 453,78 have 
been issued and fully paid. 

28.3 Profit or loss for the year 

For the year 2014 no dividend will be proposed to the equity holders. The proposed dividend has 
not been accounted for in the financial statements as at the balance sheet date. In 2013 no 
dividend was paid.  
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Balance as at 31 December 2012 1.361  7.803  18.734   52.635   2.597  83.130  

Unrealised revaluations, net of tax -         -         -5.604    -            -         -5.604   

Net gains and losses not recognided 

in income statement -         -         -5.604    - -         -5.604   

Net loss 2013 -         -         -            -            -8.729 -8.729   

Total income and expenses -         -         -5.604    -            -8.729 -14.333 

Dividend paid -         -         -            -7.500    -         -7.500   

Transfer of net profit 2012 -         -         -            2.597     -2.597 -           

Balance as at 31 December 2013 1.361  7.803  13.130   47.732   -8.729 61.297  

Unrealised revaluations, net of tax -         -         6.044     -            -         6.044    

Other changes -         -         -            -            -         -           

Net gains and losses not recognided 

in income statement -         -         6.044     - -         6.044    

Net profit 2014 -         -         -            -            4.463  4.463    

Total income and expenses -         -         6.044     -            4.463  10.507  

Dividend paid -         -         -            -            -         -           

Transfer of net profit 2013 -         -         -            -8.729    8.729  -           

Balance as at 31 December 2014 1.361  7.803  19.174   39.003   4.463  71.804  



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 75 of 80 

28.4 Legal reserves 

Generali Schade does not account for a participation reserve of its participation in Meetingpoint 
anymore (2013: 352) since the participations has been impairment in 2014 to € 0. 

A legal reserve also exists for the unrealised gains and losses on available for sale investments 
for an amount of € 19.0 million (2013: € 13.5 million). 

29 Other financial liabilities 
 

 

30 Related parties 
All investments in group companies and other investments disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements qualify as related parties. Information on related party transactions is provided in note 
22 of the consolidated financial statements. 

The management of Generali Schade are staffed in Generali Groep.  

31 Liabilities not shown on the face of the balance sheet 
Reference should be made to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements for an explanation 
of liabilities not shown on the face of the balance sheet. 

 

Diemen, 31 March 2015 

 

 

 

Jan van Leer     Freek Wansink 

Chief Executive Officer    Statutory Director 

 

 

Annette Mosman 

Statutory Director 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Payables arising from insurance activities 5.092        9.818        

Other payables and financial liabilities 7.478        5.609        

Total 12.571      15.427      
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Other information 

32 Profit appropriation 
Provisions in the articles of association governing the appropriation of profit (article 23) 

1. The company can distribute profits only in so far as its equity is greater than the paid-up and 
called part of the capital plus the legally required reserves. Profit is distributed after adoption 
of the financial statements showing that such profit-distribution is allowed. 

2. The profit is at the disposal of the AGM which can allocate part of the profit, upon the 
recommendation of the supervisory board, to the company's employees. 

 

The following profit appropriation has been proposed: 

 

The company proposes to make a dividend payment for 2014 to Generali Groep, the sole 
shareholder. 

33 Events after the balance sheet date 
On 1 January 2015, the subsidiary Nederlanden van Nu merged with Generali Schade. This 
merger will have no financial effect on the financial statements, since Generali Schade already 
owned 100% of the shares of Nederlanden van Nu (see note 25).  

There have been no other substantial events after the balance sheet date which impact the 
financial position of the company as presented in these financial statements. 

(x € 1.000) 2014 2013

Allocation to other reserves 4.463        -8.729        

Results after tax 4.463        -8.729        
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Auditor’s report 

To: the shareholders and supervisory board of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv 

 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 2014 
 
Our opinion 

We have audited the financial statements 2014 of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv 
(the company), based in Amsterdam. The financial statements include the consolidated financial 
statements and the company financial statements. 
 
In our opinion: 

• The consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Generali Schadeverzekering maatschappij nv as at 31 December 2014 and of its result and 
its cash flows for 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 

• The company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv as at 31 December 2014 and of its result for 
2014 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 

• The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014 

• The following statements for 2014: consolidated statements of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 

• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information 
 

The company financial statements comprise: 

• The company balance sheet as at 31 December 2014 

• The company profit and loss account for 2014 

• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information 

 
Basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements" section of our report. 
 
We are independent of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv in accordance with the 
Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO) and 
other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with 
the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA). 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Materiality 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 
 
Based on our professional judgment we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole at € 1.400.000. The materiality is based on 2% of equity. 
 
We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion 



Generali Schade Annual Report 2014        Page 78 of 80 

are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons. 
 
We agreed with the supervisory board that misstatements in excess of € 72.500, which are 
identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our 
view must be reported on qualitative grounds.  
 
Scope of the group audit 

Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv is the parent company of N.V. Schadeverzekering 
maatschappij De Nederlanden van Nu. The financial information of N.V. Schadeverzekering 
maatschappij De Nederlanden van Nu is included in the consolidated financial statements of 
Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv. 
 
Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and 
extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the 
risk profile of the group entities or operations. We audited the financial information of both Generali 
schadeverzekering maatschappij nv and N.V. Schadeverzekering maatschappij De Nederlanden 
van Nu. 
 
We have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group's financial 
information to provide an opinion about the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Our key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the 
supervisory board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters 
discussed. 
 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
Estimates used in the calculation of insurance liabilities and Liabilitv Adequacv Test (LAT). The 
company has significant insurance liabilities of € 256 million representing 74% of the company's 
total liabilities. The measurement of insurance liabilities involves significant judgement over 
uncertain future outcomes, mainly the ultimate total settlement value of the insurance liabilities. 
Various economic and non-economic assumptions are being used to estimate these liabilities. The 
valuation of the insurance liabilities requires the application of significant judgement in the setting 
of: 

• the number of claims incurred but not reported, and their financial effect; 

• the development of claim amounts, including morbidity, recovery and mortality rates for 
bodily injury and disability covers; 

• the effect of the backlog in accounting for the distribution channels Bourse and 
Underwriting 
Agents. 

 
We involved our own actuarial specialists to assist us in performing our audit procedures in this 
area 
which include among others: consideration of appropriateness of the assumptions used in the 
calculation of the Insurance liabilities and the Liability Adequacy Test with reference to company 
and industry data and expectations of future developments.  
 
Other key audit procedures included assessing the company's methodology for calculating the 
insurance liabilities and an assessment of internal controls in this respect, including the analysis of 
the movements in insurance liabilities during the year. We assessed whether the movements are in 
line with the assumptions used by the company, our understanding of developments in the 
business and our expectations derived from market experience. We considered whether the 
company's disclosures, in note 2.12 and 8 of the financial statements in relation to insurance 
contract liabilities are compliant with the relevant accounting requirements. 
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We considered the validity of the company's liability adequacy test (LAT) results which is a key test 
performed in order to ensure that insurance liabilities, net of deferred acquisition cost, are adequate 
in the context of expected future cash outflows. Our work on the LAT includes assessing the 
reasonableness of the projected cash flows and challenging the assumptions adopted, based on 
company's and industry experience data, expected market developments and trends. Based on the 
LAT the company concluded that the insurance liabilities are adequate. 
 
Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation of 
the management board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 
Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks 
mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and circumstances 
that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern in the 
financial statements. 
 
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process. 
 
Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion. Our audit has been performed with a high, 
but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have detected all errors and fraud. 
 
We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout 
the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 
requirements. Our audit included e.g.: 

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control. 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate. to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the company ceasing to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures. 

• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not 
communicating the matter is in the public interest. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
Report on the management board report and the other information 

Pursuant to legal requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (concerning our 
obligation to report about the management board report and other information): 

• We have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the management 
board report, to the extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and whether the information as required by Part 9 of Book 
2 of the Dutch Civil Code has been annexed. 

• We report that the management board report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent 
with 
the financial statements. 

 
Engagement 

We were engaged by the supervisory board as auditor of Generali schadeverzekering 
maatschappij nv in 2009 and have operated as statutory auditor ever since that date. 
 
The Hague, 31 March 2015 
 
 
Ernst & Young Accountants LLP 
 
 
Signed by T. de Kuijper 
 


